| <u>50272 · 101</u> | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|
| PAGE NCEER-93-0006 | | H WAR DI HI | | |
| 4. Title and Subtitle Inelastic Response of Reinforced Concrete Structu Viscoelastic Braces | es with S. Report | oote il 5, 1993 | | |
| | | | | |
| R.F. Lobo, J.M. Bracci, K.L. Shen, A.M. Reinho | rn, T.T.Soong | ning Organization Rept. No. | | |
| 9. Performing Organization Name and Address State University of New York at Buffalo | 10. Projec | t/Tesk/Work Unit No. | | |
| Department of Civil Engineering | II. Centra | uct(C) or Grant(G) No. | | |
| Buffalo, New York 14260 | | 90-25010 C-91029 | | |
| 12. Soonsaring Organization Name and Address National Center for Earthquake Engineering Resea State University of New York at Buffalo | ch II. Type Tec | of Report & Period Covered Chnical report | | |
| Red Jacket Quadrangle Buffalo, New York 14261 | 14. | | | |
| The addition of viscoelastic braces in structures f implemented in the past decade in metal models or | ty of New York at Bu Ition under Grant No. ation under Grant No or vibration reduction full-scale structures | BCS 90-25010 and NEC-91029. was proposed and Viscoelastic | | |
| implemented in the past decade in metal models or full-scale structures. Viscoelastic braces provide energy dissipation, while the structures remains by-and-large elastic. In reinforced concrete structures, the seismic response is by-and-large inelastic, which is often accompanied by permanent deformations and damage. The addition of viscoelastic dampers can dissipate energy at the early stages of cracking of the concrete elements and reduce the development of damage. However the addition of viscoelastic dampers may stiffen the structure unnecessarily producing increased inertial forces and base shears when subjected to seismic motion. The quantification of the influence of viscous and elastic stiffness properties of dampers during the inelastic response of reinforced concrete structures is thus the subject of this investigation. Models for analysis of inelastic re- sponse with damage indexing for reinforced concrete structures that include viscoelastic braces are developed and calibrated using experimental data produced by shaking table tests. These models are then used to determine the variation of expected damage in the presence of damping and quantify the hysteretic energy dissipation along with the damping energy. | | | | |
| 17. Decument Anelysis s. Descriptors | | | | |
| b. Identifiers/Open-Ended Terms Bracing systems. Energy dissipation. Damage mechanisms. Stiffness. Reinforced concrete structures. Viscoelastic dampers. Damping devices. Inelastic response. Scale models. Shaking table tests. System identification. Mathematical models. Dynamic response analysis. Input energy. Experimental evaluation. Earthquake Engineering. | | | | |
| 18. Availability Statement | 19. Security Class (This Report) Unclassified | 21. No. of Pages 112 | | |
| Release Unlimited | 20. Security Class (This Page) | 22. Price | | |
| * ANSI-239.18 | | OFTIONAL BORN 272 (4-77) | | |

b...



Inelastic Response of Reinforced Concrete Structures with Viscoelastic Braces

by

R.F. Lobo, J.M. Bracci, K.L. Shen, A.M. Reinhorn and T.T. Soong State University of New York at Buffalo

Department of Civil Engineering Buffalo, New York 14260

Technical Report NCEER-93-0006

April 5, 1993

This research was conducted at the State University of New York at Buffalo and was partially supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. BCS 90-25010 and the New York State Science and Technology Foundation under Grant No. NEC-91029.

> Bejandise od by National Technicial Information Network E.S. Department of Commerce Springforkt, VA 22161

NOTICE

This report was prepared by the State University of New York at Buffalo as a result of research sponsored by the National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research (NCEER) through grants from the National Science Foundation, the New York State Science and Technology Foundation, and other sponsors. Neither NCEER, associates of NCEER, its sponsors, the State University of New York at Buffalo, nor any person acting on their behalf:

- a. makes any warranty, express or implied, with respect to the use of any information, apparatus, method, or process disclosed in this report or that such use may not infringe upon privately owned rights; or
- b. assumes any liabilities of whatsoever kind with respect to the use of, or the damage resulting from the use of, any information, apparatus, method or process disclosed in this report.

Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation, the New York State Science and Technology Foundation, or other sponsors.

Inelastic Response of Reinforced Concrete Structures with Viscoelastic Braces

by

R.F. Lobo¹, J.M. Bracci², K.L. Shen³, A.M. Reinhorn⁴ and T.T. Soong⁵

April 5, 1993

Technical Report NCEER-93-0006

NCEER Project Number 91-3111B and 91-5131B

NSF Master Contract Number BCS 90-25010 and NYSSTF Grant Number NEC-91029

- 1 Graduate Research Assistant, Department of Civil Engineering, State University of New York at Buffalo
- 2 Research Associate, Department of Civil Engineering, State University of New York at Buffalo
- 3 Graduate Research Assistant, Department of Civil Engineering, State University of New York at Buffalo
- 4 Professor, Department of Civil Engineering, State University of New York at Buffalo
- 5 Samuel P. Capen Professor, Department of Civil Engineering, State University of New York at Buffalo

NATIONAL CENTER FOR EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING RESEARCH State University of New York at Buffalo Red Jacket Quadrangle, Buffalo, NY 14261

PREFACE

The National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research (NCEER) was established to expand and disseminate knowledge about earthquakes, improve earthquake-resistant design, and implement seismic hazard mitigation procedures to minimize loss of lives and property. The emphasis is on structures in the eastern and central United States and lifelines throughout the country that are found in zones of low, moderate, and high seismicity.

NCEER's research and implementation plan in years six through ten (1991 1996) comprises four interlocked elements, as shown in the figure below. Element I, Basic Research, is carried out to support projects in the Applied Research area. Element II, Applied Research, is the major focus of work for years six through ten. Element III, Demonstration Projects, have been planned to support Applied Research projects, and will be either case studies or regional studies. Element IV, Implementation, will result from activity in the four Applied Research projects, and from Demonstration Projects



Research in the **Building Project** focuses on the evaluation and retrofit of buildings in regions of moderate seismicity. Emphasis is on lightly reinforced concrete buildings, steel semi-rigid frames, and masonry walls or infills. The research involves small- and medium-scale shake table tests and full-scale component tests at several institutions. In a parallel effort, analytical models and computer programs are being developed to aid in the prediction of the response of these buildings to various types of ground motion.

ü

Two of the short-term products of the **Building Project** will be a monograph on the evaluation of lightly reinforced concrete buildings and a state-of-the-art report on unreinforced masonry.

The protective and intelligent systems program constitutes one of the important areas of research in the Building Project. Current tasks include the following:

- 1. Evaluate the performance of full-scale active bracing and active mass dampers already in place in terms of performance, power requirements, maintenance, reliability and cost.
- 2. Compare passive and active control strategies in terms of structural type, degree of effectiveness, cost and long-term reliability
- 3 Perform fundamental studies of hybrid control.
- 4. Develop and test hybrid control systems.

Research at NCEER on seismic applications of viscoelastic dampers to retrofit nonductile concrete frames is being carried out as a collaborative effort among researchers at the University of Illinois, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, the 3M Company, and the State University of New York at Buffalo. Presented in this report are results related to viscous and stiffness effects due to addition of the dampers on the inelastic response of reinforced concrete frames. Verification of these results was performed based on shaking table tests conducted on a one-third scaled model of a three-story lightly reinforced concrete frame.

ABSTRACT

The addition of viscoelastic braces in structures for vibration reduction was proposed and implemented in the past decade in metal models or full-scale structures. Viscoelastic braces provide energy dissipation, while the structures remains by-and-large elastic. In reinforced concrete structures, the seismic response is by-and-large inelastic, which is often accompanied by permanent deformations and damage. The addition of viscoelastic dampers can dissipate energy at the early stages of cracking of the concrete elements and reduce the development of damage. With proper selection of dampers, this damage can be substantially reduced or even climinated. However the addition of viscoelastic dampers may stiffen the structure unnecessarily producing increased inertial forces and base shears when subjected to seismic motion. The quantification of the influence of viscous and elastic stiffness properties of dampers during the inelastic response of reinforced concrete structures is the subject of this investigation. Models for analysis of inelastic braces are developed and calibrated using experimental data produced by shaking table tests. These models are then used to determine the variation of expected damage in the presence of damping and quantify the hysteretic energy dissipation along with the damping energy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Financial support has been provided by the National Center of Earthquake Engineering Research under Grant Nos. NCEER-91-3111B, NCEER-91-5131B and NCEER-92-5202A. The authors are grateful to Dr. E.J. Nielsen and Dr. M.L. Lai of the 3M Company for technical and financial support, and for supplying the viscoelastic dampers used in the experiments.

The authors would like to thank Mr. M. Pitman, Mr. Dan Walch and Mr. Richard Cizdziel of the Seismic Simulation Laboratory for their dedicated assistance during the experiments and data processing. The authors want to thank Mr. Mike Riley for his support with the computational facilities.

vii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| SECTION | TITLE | PAGE |
|---------|---|--------------|
| 1 | INTRODUCTION | 1-1 |
| 2 | INELASTIC DAMAGE ANALYSIS OF REINFORCED CON- CRETE STRUCTURES WITH VISCOELASTIC BRACES | 2- 1 |
| 2.1 | Numerical Solution for Dynamic Analysis | 2-2 |
| 2.2 | Determination of Damper Properties | 2-4 |
| 2.3 | Influence of the Individual Dampers Properties on the Structure Properties | 2-7 |
| 2.4 | Determination of Damping Ratios | . 2-8 |
| 2.4.1 | Equivalent Damping Ratio for an Undamped System | . 2-8 |
| 2.4.2 | Complex Formulation for Damping Ratio | . 2-9 |
| 3 | PERFORMANCE VERIFICATION OF ANALYTICAL MODEL IN 1:3 SCALE STRUCTURE TESTING | . 3-1 |
| 3.1 | Experimental Program | . 3-1 |
| 3.2 | Stiffness Identification | . 3-10 |
| 3.2.1 | Experimental Identification of Stiffness | . 3-10 |
| 3.2.2 | Analytical Identification of Stiffness | . 3-12 |
| 3.3 | Identification of Natural Frequencies and Damping Ratios | . 3-13 |
| 3.4 | Memory Dependency in R/C Members | . 3-15 |
| 3.5 | Comparison of Displacement and Acceleration Time Histories | . 3-17 |
| 3.6 | Damper Forces | . 3-17 |

TABLE OF CONTENTS (cont.)

| SECTION | TITLE | PAGE |
|---------|---|------|
| 3.7 | Base Shears and Damper Stiffnesses | 3-30 |
| 4 | EFFECTS OF VISCOELASTIC BRACES ON STRUCTURAL RESPONSE | 4-1 |
| 4.1 | Natural Frequency / Period | 4-1 |
| 4.2 | Story Forces and Drifts | 4-4 |
| 4.3 | Column Axial Forces | 4-4 |
| 4.4 | Energy Input | 4-9 |
| 4.5 | Damage Mechanism | 4-10 |
| 5 | INFLUENCE OF VISCOELASTIC PROPERTIES ON SEISMIC RESPONSE OF R/C STRUCTURES | 5-1 |
| 6 | CONCLUDING REMARKS | 6-1 |
| 7 | REFERENCES | 7-1 |
| | APPENDIX | A-1 |

x

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

| FIGURE | TITLE | PAGE |
|--------|---|------|
| 2-1 | Structural Model With Viscoelastic Braces | 2-5 |
| 2-2 | Typical Force Deformation Loop at 3Hz (Experimental) | 2-5 |
| 3-1 | 1:3 Scale R/C Frame Structure a. Before Conventional Retrofit b. After Conventional Retrofit of Columns | 3-2 |
| 3-2 | Front Elevation of Test Structure Before Conventional Retrofit | 3-3 |
| 3-3 | Side Elevation of Test Structure | 3-4 |
| 3-4 | Conventional Retrofit by Jacketing of Interior Columns | 3-5 |
| 3-5 | Details of Conventional Retrofit | 3-6 |
| 3-6 | R/C Frame with Viscoelastic Brace Dampers | 3-8 |
| 3-7 | Top Story Displacement During Taft Earthquake, PGA=0.2g (Test #5) a. Hysteretic Properties not Updated - Single Analysis b. Hysteretic Properties Updated - Following Sequential Analysis | 3-16 |
| 3-8 | Displacement Time History with Damper A for Taft, PGA 0.05g | 3-18 |
| 3-9 | Displacement Time History with Dampers B for Taft, PGA 0.05g | 3-19 |

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS (cont.)

| FIGURE | TITLE | PAGE |
|--------|---|--------|
| 3-10 | Displacement Time History with Damper A for Taft, PGA 0.2g | 3-20 |
| 3-11 | Displacement Time History with Damper B for Taft, PGA 0.2g | 3-21 |
| 3-12 | Acceleration Time History with Damper A for Taft, PGA 0.05g | 3-22 |
| 3-13 | Acceleration Time History with Damper B for Taft, PGA 0.05g | 3-23 |
| 3-14 | Acceleration Time History with Damper A for Taft, PGA 0.2g | 3-24 |
| 3-15 | Acceleration Time History with Damper B for Taft, PGA 0.2g | 3-25 |
| 3-16 | Force Displacement (* Dampers A for Taft, PGA 0.05g | 3-26 |
| 3-17 | Force Displacement of Dampers B for Taft, PGA 0.05g | . 3-27 |
| 3-18 | Force Displacement of Dampers A for Taft, PGA 0.2g | . 3-28 |
| 3-19 | Force Displacement of Dampers B for Taft, PGA 0.2g | . 3-29 |
| 3-20 | Base Shear in Columns with Dampers A for Taft, PGA 0.05g | . 3-31 |
| 3-21 | Base Shear in Columns with Dampers B for Taft, PGA 0.05g | . 3-32 |
| 3-22 | Base Shear in Columns with Dampers A for Taft, PGA 0.2gA | . 3-33 |
| 3-23 | Base Shear in Columns with Dampers B for Taft, PGA 0.2g | . 3-34 |

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS (cont.)

| FIGURE | TITLE | PAGE |
|--------|--|--------------|
| 4-1 | Acceleration Transfer Function with Dampers A (for White Noise PGA 0.025g) | 4-2 |
| 4-2 | Acceleration Transfer Function with Dampers B (for White Noise PGA 0.025g) | 4-3 |
| 4-3 | Forces-Deformation at First Floor with Dampers A for (PGA 0.2g) | 4-5 |
| 4-4 | Forces-Deformation at First Floor with Dampers B for (PGA 0.2g) | 4-6 |
| 4-5 | Capacity Diagrams versus Force Demands in Interior Columns with Dampers A | 4-7 |
| 4-6 | Capacity Diagrams versus Force Demands in Interior Columns with Dampers B | 4-8 |
| 4-7 | Energy Input in the Test Structure | 4 -11 |
| 4-8 | Mechanism Formed in the Building | 4-13 |
| 4-9 | Story Damage Evaluation a. Elastic Superstructure b. Inelastic Superstructure | 4-13 |
| 5-1 | Pseudo Acceleration Transfer Functions for Added Damping a. Elastic Superstructure b. Inelastic Superstructure | 5-2 |
| 5-2 | Pseudo Acceleration Transfer Functions for High Levels of Additional Damping | 5-2 |

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS (cont.)

| FIGURE | TITLE | PAGE |
|-------------|---|----------|
| 5-3 | Variation of First Mode Frequencies a. Elastic Superstructure b. Inelastic Superstructure | 5-3 |
| 5-4 | Influence of Earthquake on Structural Response with Viscoelastic Braces a. Base Shear Response b. Displacement Response | 5-5 |
| 5-5 | Apparent Equivalent Damping with Viscoelastic Braces with Added Stiffness (Percent of First Story) | 5-5 |
| A- 1 | Layout of Slab Steel Reinforcement | A-2 |
| A-2a | Details of Beam Steel Reinforcement | A-3 |
| A-2b | Details of Beam Steel Reinforcement (Continued) | A-4 |
| A-3 | Details of the Column Steel Reinforcement | A-5 |
| A-4 | Gradation Analysis of the Concrete Mix | A-6 |
| A-5 | Average Concrete Specimen Strength Versus Time | A-6 |
| A-6 | Measured Representative Stress-Strain Relationships of the Reinforcing Stee | l A-8 |

LIST OF TABLES

| TABLE | TITLE | PAGE |
|-------|---|------|
| 3-1 | Properties of Dampers in Retrofitted Structure | 3-9 |
| 3-2 | Testing Program for the Retrofitted Model with Viscoelastic Braces | 3-10 |
| 3-3 | Dynamic Characteristics History of the Retrofitted Model from Low Level Vibrations (White Noise PGA0.025g) | 3-11 |
| 3-4 | Analytical Versus Experimental Stiffness Matrices Without Dampers | 3-13 |
| 3-5 | Structure's Properties with Viscoelastic Dampers From Strong Vibrations | 3-14 |
| 3-6 | Analytical Versus Experimental Damping and Stiffness | 3-15 |
| 4-1 | First Mode Dynamic Characteristics During Low Level Vibration Tests | 4-2 |
| 4-2 | Maximum Measured Story Response | 4-9 |

SECTION 1

INTRODUCTION

The addition of viscoelastic braces in structures for vibration reduction was thoroughly investigated in the past decade using metal scaled models or full-scaled structures. While the viscoelastic braces provide energy dissipation through non-load bearing elements, the load bearing structure remains by-and-large elastic. Reinforced concrete structures are designed to resist earthquakes by dissipating the input energy transmitted to the structure through inelastic deformations of the load bearing components. The seismic response is therefore accompanied by permanent inelastic deformations and damage. Proper selection of additional viscoelastic dampers can contribute to the energy dissipation in the early stages of cracking and limit the development of damage or completely eliminate it.

Various damping devices were suggested for use in structures to limit damage to the load bearing structural elements. Of these devices the two more popularly used are: (i) the direct shear seismic damper (DSSD) (Mahmoodi, 1969) and (ii) the steel plate added damping and stiffness (ADAS) damper Scholl (1990). Mahmoodi (1969) showed that viscoelastic dampers at appropriate locations within the structure are effective in reducing the vibrations in tall buildings. These dampers have proved successful as adequate damping devices with stable engineering properties with regards to aging in the World Trade Center Buildings (New York) and the Columbia Center Building (Seattle), (Keel et al. 1986). A number of experimental studies have also been conducted to show the effectiveness of these dampers in reducing the story displacements, accelerations, shear forces, and damage to structures. Lin et al. (1991) tested a 1/4-scale three story steel framed model building, Chang et al. (1992) tested a 2/5-scale five story steel framed model building, to name a few. These studies show conclusive evidence that mechanical dampers, acting as non-load bearing elements, effectively damp the vibrations in buildings caused by wind, seismic, or other forms of transient lateral loadings. These dampers effectively dissipate the input energy to the structure by increasing

SECTION 2

INELASTIC DAMAGE ANALYSIS OF REINFORCED CONCRETE STRUCTURES WITH VISCOELASTIC BRACES

Inelastic analysis of reinforced concrete structures to seismic or wind loadings has been the subject of several previous developments for planar systems, such as DRAIN-2D (Kanaan and Powell, 1973), SARCF (Rodriguez-Gomez et al., 1990) and a family of analytical developments, IDARC (Park et al., 1987 and Kunnath et al., 1992). A recent development of the two dimensional version of IDARC (Kunnath et al., 1992) was extended to a full three dimensional analysis of reinforced concrete structures including space torsional behavior and biaxial bending interaction in the structural elements, IDARC-3D (Lobo et al., 1992). The salient features of the above analytical model for reinforced concrete structures are:

- (i) An extensive hysteretic model governed by several parameters to simulate inelastic behavior of beams, columns, shear-walls, and braces.
- (ii) A distributed flexibility model that accounts for the nonsymmetric distribution of plasticity along the members.
- (iii) A variety of loading conditions including simultaneous action of static, cyclic, and random forces and base excitations.
- (iv) Evaluation of damage progression and energy balances. The hysteretic model has the capability of reproducing a variety of hysteretic curves by selection of three independent parameters which control stiffness degradation, strength deterioration and pinching usually generated by bond slip of the reinforcement during cracking (Kunnath et al., 1992).

The above analytical platform was verified using extensive simulations and comparisons with experimental data from laboratory tests of components and structures (Kunnath et al., 1992, Bracci et al., 1992a, 1992b, 1992c, and El-Attar et al., 1991). The simulations obtained are suitable to

either duplicate or predict actual measured behavior. Thus the analytical model IDARC-3D was chosen as a base to develop the new models for analysis of reinforced concrete buildings with viscoelastic dampers.

2.1 Numerical Solution for Dynamic Analysis

The inelastic analysis of structures with viscoelastic braces is done using numerical models and direct integration techniques. The fundamental equation of motion for numerical integration is expressed in matrix form as:

$$\mathbf{M}\ddot{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{C}\dot{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{K}\mathbf{u} = -\mathbf{M}\mathbf{I}\ddot{u}_{x} + \mathbf{F}_{w}$$
(2.1)

where $\mathbf{M} = \text{mass matrix}$, $\mathbf{C} = \text{mass proportional damping matrix}$, $\mathbf{K} = \text{instantaneous overall stiffness}$ matrix, $\mathbf{I} = \text{vector of ones or zeros indicating excitation in any degree of freedom. <math>\mathbf{u}$, $\hat{\mathbf{u}}$, and $\hat{\mathbf{u}} =$ displacement, velocity, and acceleration vectors, respectively, $\vec{u}_x =$ ground acceleration vector, and $\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{w}} = \text{wind forces}$. Equation (2.1) can be solved by a linear step-by-step dynamic analysis procedure using the Newmark Beta constant average acceleration method, which gives an unconditionally stable solution. It can by expressed in a generalized form in terms of the incremental forces and displacements after the inclusion of the additional stiffness and damping from the viscoelastic braces as:

$$\Delta \mathbf{F}^{*} = \mathbf{K}^{*} \Delta \mathbf{u}$$

(2.2)

 $\Delta \mathbf{F}^{*} = -\mathbf{M}\mathbf{I}\Delta \mathbf{u}_{g} + \Delta \mathbf{F}_{w} + \mathbf{M}[\frac{4}{\Delta t}\dot{\mathbf{u}} + 2\ddot{\mathbf{u}}] + 2[\mathbf{C} + \Delta \mathbf{C}]\dot{\mathbf{u}}$

$$\mathbf{K}^{*} = \left[\frac{4}{\Delta t^{2}}\mathbf{M} + \frac{2}{\Delta t}[\mathbf{C} + \Delta \mathbf{C}] + [\mathbf{K} + \Delta \mathbf{K}]\right]$$

$$\Delta \ddot{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{r}} = \ddot{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{r}}^{(t)} - \ddot{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{r}}^{(t-1)}; \ \Delta \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{w}} = \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{w}}^{(t)} - \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{w}}^{(t-1)}$$

where $\Delta \mathbf{u} =$ the vector of incremental displacements, $\Delta \ddot{\mathbf{u}}_{k} =$ the increment of ground acceleration, $\Delta F_{\mathbf{u}} =$ the vector of incremental wind forces, $\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ and $\ddot{\mathbf{u}} =$ the velocity and acceleration at the beginning of the time step, and $\Delta \mathbf{K}$ and $\Delta \mathbf{C} =$ the matrices corresponding to the additional stiffness and additional damping provided by the viscoelastic braces. These matrices can be obtained by linearization of frequency dependent viscoelastic models models of complex formulation as shown in the following.

The global equivalent viscous damping in reinforced concrete buildings seems to play an important role for the elastic behavior, usually in the non-damaged state. When structures enter the inelastic range much energy is dissipated by hysteretic behavior and therefore the influence of this viscous damping effects to the total apparent damping diminishes. A proportional damping representation used in IDARC-3D, (Lobo, 1993), accounts for the global viscous damping and produces acceptable results both in the elastic as well as the inelastic range. When more control on the damping in the various modes is required, in the elastic range, the proportional damping matrix can be expressed as:

$$\mathbf{C} = \alpha_0 \mathbf{M} (\mathbf{M}^{-1} \mathbf{K})^0 + \alpha_1 \mathbf{M} (\mathbf{M}^{-1} \mathbf{K})^1 + \alpha_2 \mathbf{M} (\mathbf{M}^{-1} \mathbf{K})^2 + \dots$$
(2.3)

where $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \alpha_2$ are proportionally factors that lead to real modes and frequencies. The first two terms correspond to the mass and stiffness proportional damping respectively. Using an effective critical damping ratio, ξ_{\pm} , corresponding to mass or stiffness proportional damping matrix, could yield adequate results if the number of dampers were located uniformly throughout the structure. This procedure provides, however, only an approximation of the damping produced by addition of supplemental damping such as provided by viscoelastic braces, which is non proportional. In the further modeling it is assumed that, only the lateral degrees of freedom are affected, without influencing the damping to the rotational degrees of freedom. Non proportional viscous damping for multi degree of freedom systems, produces free vibration response of the structure, that is exponentially damped at the same frequency, but at different phase angles, resulting in non-stationary modes. This is well represented by complex eigen values and eigen vectors. Thus the use of an equivalent critical damping ratio ξ to represent damping is only an approximation limited to structures with evenly distributed supplemental damping.

Various attempts were made to emphasize more realistically the influence of added damping. Instead of the equivalent damping approach, Caravani and Thomson (1974) suggested to define a damping matrix that included the influence of story damping in an implicit way. Modeling of viscoelastic braces was successfully attempted by Hanson et al., (1987). Su and Hanson (1990) modeled the structural and hysteretic damping of ADAS devices using the Ramberg - Osgood hysteresis model in DRAIN-2D (Kanaan and Powell, 1973). Pall et.al (1982) modelled the response of structures with diagonal cross friction bracing using a non symmetric bilinear model, also using DRAIN-2D. Recently Liang and Lee (1991) have expressed the damping matrix similar to the previous authors, however the influence of modal frequencies and structural brace configurations was also included. The model of viscoelastic braces used in IDARC-3D and detailed in the next section is an extension of the models proposed by Ashour et al. (1987) and Liang et al. (1991).

2.2 Determination of Damper Properties

Viscoelastic damping material as the name implies, has two components, the viscous part or energy absorbing part, and the elastic part or energy restoring part. Figure 2.1 shows a typical structural model with supplemental viscoelastic braces which serves as a test case for modeling and analysis using IDARC-3D. For a single viscoelastic damper (see Fig. 2-2) subjected to a steady state harmonic excitation, the damping force can be described by the complex relation:

$$\mathbf{F}(\omega)_{d} = [(k_{1}(\omega) + ik_{1}(\omega))]x(\omega)$$
(2.4)



FIGURE 2-1 Structural Model With Viscoelastic Braces



FIGURE 2-2 Typical Force Deformation Loop at 3Hz (Experimental)

where \mathbf{F}_d = the force in the brace, $k_i(\omega)$ = the shear storage stiffness, $k_i(\omega)$ = the shear loss stiffness, and x = the displacement in the damper. Since the damping coefficient force formulation is dependent on frequency (Liang, 1991), Eq. (2.4) can be generalized as:

$$\mathbf{F}_{d}(\omega) = k_{i}(\omega)(1 + i\eta(\omega))x(\omega)$$
(2.5)

where $\eta(\omega)$ = the loss factor and defined as the ratio of $k_i(\omega)/k_i(\omega)$. For a process governed by a narrow band excitation the coefficients $k_i(\omega)$ and $\eta(\omega)$ may be considered constant.

With this assumption and after some, manipulations of Eq. (2.5), using the definition of viscous damping coefficient, c_{1} as:

$$c = \frac{\eta k_{\star}}{\omega} \tag{2.6}$$

The force in the damper can be defined:

$$\mathbf{F}_{d}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = (k_{y} + ic\boldsymbol{\omega})x(\boldsymbol{\omega})$$
(2.7)

An inverse Fourier transform applied to (2.7) produces

$$\mathbf{F}_{d}(t) = k_{x}x(t) + c\dot{x}(t) \tag{2.8}$$

which indicates that the shear storage stiffness $(k_i = \eta k_s)$ influences the stiffness of the brace and the shear loss stiffness (k_i) influences the damping of the brace. Although the structure shows vibrations in various modes, the first mode of vibration is dominant and therefore the properties of the damper $k_s(\omega)$ and $\eta(\omega)$ can be selected based on the significant mode without appreciable loss of accuracy.

If the shear storage modulus (G') is known, the stiffness k_i can be obtained directly according to the relation

$$k_{\rm v} = G^{\rm v} A / t \tag{2.9}$$

where A is the total shear area of the viscoelastic material and t is the thickness of the viscoelastic material. Similarly k_i can be obtained as

$$k_t = G^* A/t \tag{2.10}$$

when the shear loss modulus (G^{*}) is known. The same stiffnesses k_x and k_t can also be obtained from the cyclic test hysteresis results as shown in Fig. 2-2.

2.3 Influence of Individual Damper's Properties on the Structure Properties

The properties of each brace using identical damping devices are incorporated in the structural model as increments of the stiffness, ΔK , and of the damping, ΔC , matrices:

$$\Delta \mathbf{K} = k_{\rm B} \text{ and } \Delta \mathbf{C} = c \mathbf{B} \tag{2.11}$$

where **B** is a non-dimensional brace location matrix that takes the following form:

where N_k = the number of dampers at the k-th story such that $N_k c$ is the total damping coefficient of all the dampers at k-th story and $\cos \theta$ = the inclination of each brace from the horizontal. For unequal dampers, the value of N_k may be a noninteger **B** can be therefore suitably modified to reflect a variable number of braces at each floor, the variable damper properties, and the inclination of the dampers. The incremental matrices $\Delta \mathbf{K}$ and $\Delta \mathbf{C}$ are added to the dynamic equations of motion, Eq. (2.2), within IDARC-3D. The validity of the above formulation is verified with experimental data and used for further parametric analysis as described in the subsequent sections.

2.4 Determination of Damping Ratios

2.4.1 Equivalent Formulation of Damping Ratio

The contribution of identical viscoelastic devices to the critical damping in each mode can be obtained using modal characteristics as :

$$\xi_{\Delta i} = \frac{1}{2\omega_i} \frac{\Phi_i^T (\Delta C) \Phi_i}{\Phi_i^T \mathbf{M} \Phi_i} = \frac{c}{2\omega_i} \frac{\Phi_i^T \mathbf{B} \Phi_i}{\Phi_i^T \mathbf{M} \Phi_i}$$
(2.13)

where Φ_i is the i-th modal shape and ω_i is the i-th modal frequency. For very simple structures such as in Fig. 2-1 the i-th modal damping ratio can be obtained from Eq. (2.13) or as:

$$\xi_{\Delta i} = c \cdot \left[\mathbf{N}_{1}^{*} \cos^{2} \theta_{1} \Phi_{ij}^{2} + \sum_{j=2}^{j} \mathbf{N}_{j} \cos^{2} \theta_{j} (\Phi_{ij} - \Phi_{i(j-1)})^{2} \right] / 2\omega_{i} \Sigma m_{j} \Phi_{ij}^{2}$$
(2.14)

where m_j is the j-th story mass and J is the total number of stories. Eq. (2.13) or (2.14) can be used in design process for estimating the required damping property, c_j , of a typical brace such that a desired supplemental modal damping ratio ξ_j can be obtained. The total damping can be further obtained including the contribution from the inherent viscous damping already existing in the structure as:

$$\xi_{TOT_i} = \frac{\omega_i \Phi_i'(C + \Delta C) \Phi_i}{2 \Phi_i'(K + \Delta K) \Phi_i}$$
(2.15)

Equation (2.15) can be expressed in terms of the individual damping ratio contributions as:

$$\xi_{ror_i} = \xi_{\Delta i} + \xi_{ci} (1 - \alpha_i + \alpha_i^2 - \alpha_i^3 + \dots)$$
(2.16)

Where $\xi_{i,i}$ is the original structural modal damping ratio $\omega_i (\Phi_i^T \mathbf{C} \Phi_i)/2(\Phi_i^T \mathbf{K} \Phi_i)$ and α_i is $\Phi_i^T \Delta \mathbf{K} \Phi_i / \Phi_i^T \mathbf{K} \Phi_i$. Note that for a small stiffness increase $\Delta \mathbf{K}$ the resultant damping is the sum of the added damping and the original one.

2.4.2 Complex Formulation for Damping Ratio

The ξ_{TaTi} computed by this process is only an approximate value of the critical damping ratio, because of the non-proportional characteristics of the damping matrix. The natural frequencies ω_i and corresponding damping ratios ξ_{TaTi} for each mode can be computed more accurately from the set of homogeneous equations (Frazer et. al. 1946) using the total complex damping C^* , and stiffness K^* matrices based on the state equation:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{M} & \mathbf{C}^{*} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \ddot{\mathbf{u}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{u}} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -\mathbf{M} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{K}^{*} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \dot{\mathbf{u}} \\ \mathbf{u} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.17*a*)

or:

$$\mathbf{A}\dot{\mathbf{y}} + \mathbf{B}\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{0} \tag{2.17b}$$

where

$$\mathbf{A} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{M} & \mathbf{C}^* \end{bmatrix}; \quad \mathbf{B} = \begin{bmatrix} -\mathbf{M} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{K}^* \end{bmatrix}; \quad \mathbf{y} = \begin{bmatrix} \dot{\mathbf{u}} \\ \mathbf{u} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.17*b*)

The eign solution can therefore be obtained from:

$$\dot{\mathbf{y}} = -\lambda \mathbf{y} \tag{2.18}$$

OF:

$$\mathbf{A}\mathbf{y} = \frac{1}{\lambda}\mathbf{B}\mathbf{y} \tag{2.19}$$

Equation (2.19) has complex roots that can be obtained as:

$$\hat{\lambda}_i = \mu_i + i\nu_i \tag{2.20}$$

where *lamda*, are calculated from the characteristic equation;

$$\lambda_i^2 + 2\xi_i \omega_i \lambda_i + \omega_i^2 = 0 \tag{2.21}$$

that yields the characteristic values:

· ___

$$\mu_i = \xi_i \omega_i \tag{2.22a}$$

$$\mathbf{v}_i = \boldsymbol{\omega}_i \sqrt{1 - \boldsymbol{\xi}_i^2} \tag{2.22b}$$

The free vibration response is obtained from:

$$y_i(t) = e^{-\xi_i \omega_i t} \left[\frac{y_i(0) + v_i(0)\xi_i \omega_i}{\omega_d} \sin \omega_d t + y_i(0) \cos \omega_d t \right]$$
(2.23)

with the natural frequencies and the equivalent damping ratios for the respective modes computed as:

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{d_i} = \mathbf{v}_i \tag{2.24}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{i} = \sqrt{\boldsymbol{\mu}_{i}^{2} + \boldsymbol{\nu}_{i}^{2}} \tag{2.25}$$

$$\xi_{i} = \frac{\mu_{i}}{\sqrt{\nu_{i}^{2} + \mu_{i}^{2}}}$$
(2.26)

A comparison of the analytical predictions of equivalent damping ratios and of complex ratios to the values obtained in experiments are given in the next section.

- - -

SECTION 3

PERFORMANCE VERIFICATION OF ANALYTICAL MODEL IN 1:3 SCALE STRUCTURE TESTING

An experimental study of a 1:3 scale R/C frame structure retrofitted with viscoelastic braces using 3MTH materials was carried out at NCEER [Shen, Soong, Bracci/1993]. The purpose of this experimental study is

- (i) To observe the performance of viscoelastic dampers
- (ii) To validate the analytical (computational) model that make use of several simplified assumptions.
- (iii) To determine the influence of dampers on the structural components and overall structural system.

The results of this study are used here to validate the analytical model described in the proceeding section.

3.1 Experimental Program

A one-third scale model of a three story lightly reinforced concrete frame building (Figs. 3.1, 3.2, and 3.3) was previously tested under simulated base motions using the shaking table in the Seismic Simulation Laboratory at the Stale University of New York at Buffalo (Bracci et al., 1992a and 1992b). The structure was tested using a series of simulated motions obtained from the scaled 1952 Taft earthquake, N21E component, normalized for peak ground accelerations (PGA) of 0.05g, 0.20g, and 0.30g representing minor, moderate, and severe ground motions. The structure was also tested with a uniform random noise (white noise) after each episode for identification purposes. The severe base motions induced large inter-story drifts and internal damage to the columns such that an incipient column-sidesway mechanism was apparent and leading towards a collapse situation



FIGURE 3-2 Front Elevation of Test Structure Before Conventional Retrofit



FIGURE 3-3 Side Elevation of Test Structure



Elevation

FIGURE 3-4 Conventional Retrofit by Jacketing of Interior Columns



Section 2



(Bracci et al., 1992b). Subsequently the damaged building was retrofitted conventionally (See Fig. 3.1) by strengthening the interior columns of the building using concrete jacketing, strengthening the beam-column joints with a reinforced concrete fillet, and post-tensioning the repaired columns to 20% of their ultimate axial strength as shown in Figs. 3.4, and 3.5,

(Bracci et al., 1992c). The system was subsequently tested using the same motions as for the original building. The performance of the repaired structure was substantially improved producing only local damage in beams and slabs. However the complete beam-sidesway mechanism was not near full development, thus reducing the overall damage and collapse risk.

This damaged building served the objective for further experimental studies of retrofit using viscoelastic dampers of the direct shear type.

The building was retrofitted again by adding viscoelastic diagonal braces in the interior bay of each frame (see Fig. 3.6) and tested by Shen, Bracci, Soong and Reinhorn. For sake of completion the description of the test is repeated in here. The viscoelastic dampers made by $3M^{TM}$ Company Minneapolis, MN, consisted of two pads of $3M^{TM}$ manufactured viscoelastic material bonded between three steel plates and embedded in steel braces connected by steel brackets to the story slabs (see Fig. 3.7). The brackets were located above and below the horizontal beams strengthening somewhat the beam-column joint over a 2" distance at each end.

Two sets of 0.5" thick viscoelastic dampers of different sizes (type A with total shear area of 35 in.² and type B with total area of 17.5 in.²) were alternatively tested for the retrofit of the structure. The dampers were tested under cyclic loading prior to the shaking table tests. As shown in Fig. 2.2, the storage stiffness and the loss stiffness for each test are determined, from which the other relevant properties of the damper at a particular frequency can be calculated. The relevant properties required for the analysis predictions of the response of the structure with viscoelastic dampers were obtained from tests done by Shen, Soong, et al., and are listed in Table 3.1. The viscoelastic dampers display a behavior dependent on frequency, strain amplitude, and temperature. Although this



a Elevation



h. Viscoelastic Brace Damper



Details of Viscoelastic Damper

FIGURE 3-6 R/C Frame with Viscoelastic Brace Dampers

| Frequency f (Hz) (1) | Shear Storage Modulus G _y (ksi) (2) | Shear Loss Modulus G/(ksi) (3) (a) P | Shear Storage Stiffness k _a (kip/in) (4) Properties of I | Shear Loss Stiffness k _i (kip/in) (5) Damper A | Loss Factor η (6) | Damping Coefficient c (kips/in/sec) (7) |
|----------------------------|--|---|--|--|----------------------------|---|
| 1.0 | 0.182 | 0.248 | 12.74 | 17.36 | 1.36 | 2.76 |
| 1.5 | 0.244 | 0.305 | 17.08 | 21.35 | 1.25 | 2.27 |
| 2.0 | 0.294 | 0.366 | 20.58 | 25.62 | 1.24 | 2.04 |
| 2.5 | 0.335 | 0.396 | 23.45 | 27.72 | 1.18 | 1.76 |
| 3.0 | 0.345 | 0.431 | 24.15 | 30.17 | 1.25 | 1.60 |
| | | (b) I | Properties of I | Damper B | | |
| 1.0 | 0.199 | 0.259 | 6.97 | 9.07 | 1.30 | 1.44 |
| 1.5 | 0.265 | 0.326 | 9.28 | 11.41 | 1.23 | 1.21 |
| 2.0 | 0.300 | 0.395 | 10.50 | 13.83 | 1.32 | 1.10 |
| 2.5 | 0.365 | 0.463 | 12.78 | 16.21 | 1.27 | 1.03 |
| 3.0 | 0.385 | 0.487 | 13.48 | 17.05 | 1.26 | 0.90 |

TABLE 3-1 Properties of Dampers in Retrofitted Structure

temperature dependency is the most significant, the variations in the damper properties can be neglected in a temperature controlled environment (such as room temperature in most office buildings and laboratories).

The frame structure was subjected to a shaking table testing schedule as shown in Table 3-2. Wide banded (0-50 Hz.) white noise excitations were used for identification of the dynamic characteristics of the structure before and after every earthquake shaking table motion. Since testing was conducted

| Test | Test Description | VE Damper Type | Test Label | Purpose |
|------------|-------------------------|-------------------|-----------------|----------------------------|
| (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) | (5) |
| 0. | Taft N21E, PGA 0.20g | None | TF20_WO | Comparison Response |
| 00. | Taft N21E, PGA 0.30g | | TF30_WO | Comparison Response |
| 1. | White Noise, PGA 0.025g | Α | WNB_VEA | Identification |
| 2. | White Noise, PGA 0.025g | | WNC_VEA | Identification |
| 3. | Taft N21E, PGA 0.05 g | | TF05_VEA | <u>Minor Earthquake</u> |
| 4. | White Noise, PGA 0.025g | | WND_VEA | Identification |
| 5. | Taft N21E, PGA 0.20 g | | TF20_VEA | <u>Moderate Earthquake</u> |
| 6. | White Noise, PGA 0.025g | | WNE_VEA | Identification |
| 7. | White Noise, PGA 0.025g | В | WNA_VEB | Identification |
| 8. | Taft N21E, PGA 0.05 g | | <u>TF05 VEB</u> | Minor Earthquake |
| 9. | White Noise, PGA 0.025g | | WNB_VEB | Identification |
| 10. | White Noise, PGA0.025g | | WNC_VEB | Identification |
| 11. | Taft N21E, PGA 0.20 g | | <u>TF20 VEB</u> | Moderate Earthquake |
| 12. | White Noise, PGA0.025g | | WND_VEB | Identification |

TABLE 3-2 Testing Program for the Retrofitted Model with Viscoelastic Braces

Note: _WO indicates no dampers and _VEx indicates viscoelastic dampers of type x.

over several days, consecutive white noise excitations were used to validate the current dynamic characteristics of the building. Focus on the analytical performance evaluation is drawn to tests #3, #5, #8 and #11, as they are indicative of the response of the building to the representative base motions for minor and moderate earthquakes with additional stiffness and damping.

3.2 Stiffness Identification

3.2.1 Experimental Identification of Stiffness

The stiffness matrix is computed from the experimentally determined frequencies, mode shapes and the mass at each story level (Bracci, 1992) as

$$\mathbf{K} = \mathbf{M} \mathbf{\Phi} \mathbf{\Omega} \mathbf{\Phi}^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{M} \tag{3.1}$$
| Test Name | Frequency | Modal Sha | ipes | Stifl | fness Ma | trix | Story Stiffnesses | Equivalent Viscous Damping |
|---------------------------------|---|--|----------------------------|---|------------------------------------|--------------------------|---|---|
| | f (<u>Hz.</u>) | Φ" | | _ | K _{ij} (kip/in) | | k , (kip/in) | ξ, (%) |
| | | (a) Before Ea | rthquak | e Test Taf | t N21EP | GA 0.20 | y . | |
| White noise WHNR_B | $ \left(\begin{array}{c} 2.78 \\ 9.38 \\ 16.75 \end{array}\right) $ | (1.00 - 0.86 0.79 0.48 (0.42 1.00 | - 0.51 1,00 - 0.89 | (205.2 - 238.6 71.6 | - 2.38.6 421 4 - 278.2 | 71.6 - 278.2 432.7 | $\begin{pmatrix} 238.6 \\ 278.2 \\ 154.5 \end{pmatrix}$ | $ \begin{pmatrix} 3.0\\ 1.9\\ 1.3 \end{pmatrix} $ |
| White noise WHNR C | $ \left(\begin{array}{c} 2.64 \\ 9.18 \\ 16.70 \end{array}\right) $ | $ \begin{pmatrix} 1.00 & -0.86 \\ 0.79 & 0.45 \\ 0.44 & 1.00 \end{pmatrix} $ | - (),49 1.00 - (),83 | (198.9 - 238.2 - 65.2 | - 238.2 438.5 - 279.1 | 65.2 - 279 1 404.6 | $ \begin{pmatrix} 238.2 \\ 279.1 \\ 125.5 \end{pmatrix} $ | $ \begin{pmatrix} 4.7\\ 1.8\\ 1.6 \end{pmatrix} $ |
| | | (b) After Ear | thquake | Test Taft | N21E P | GA 0.20 | j | |
| WHNR D (East) Whitenoise | $ \left(\begin{array}{c} 1.98\\ 8.11\\ 15.33 \end{array}\right) $ | $\begin{cases} 1.00 & -0.86 \\ 0.82 & 0.42 \\ 0.46 & 1.00 \end{cases}$ | - 0.56 1.00 - 0.81) | (182.7 (- 218.2 (71.9 | - 218.2 356.9 - 229.3 | 71.9 - 229.3 318.3 | $\begin{pmatrix} 218.2 \\ 229.3 \\ 89.0 \end{pmatrix}$ | $ \begin{pmatrix} 6.6 \\ 2.6 \\ 1.4 \end{pmatrix} $ |
| WHNR_D (West) Whitenoise | $ \left(\begin{array}{c} 1.93\\ 7.98\\ 15.48 \end{array}\right) $ | $ \begin{cases} 1.00 & \sim 0.88 \\ 0.82 & 0.38 \\ 0.48 & 1.00 \end{cases} $ | - 0.59 1.00 - 0.80 | (196 .0 - 226.9 - 80.6 | - 226.9 356.5 - 233.8 | 80.6 - 233.8 311.9 | $\begin{pmatrix} 226.9 \\ 233.8 \\ 78.1 \end{pmatrix}$ | $ \left(\begin{array}{c} 8.1\\ 2.8\\ 0.8 \end{array}\right) $ |
| | | (c) After Ear | thquake | Test Taft | N21E P | GA 0.30g | 3 | |
| WHNR_E (East) White noise | $ \left(\begin{array}{c} 1.88\\ 7.5\\ 14.84 \end{array}\right) $ | $\begin{cases} 1.00 & -0.83 \\ 0.82 & 0.36 \\ 0.45 & 1.00 \end{cases}$ | -0.56 1.00 -0.76) | $ \left(\begin{array}{c} 168.1 \\ -205.3 \\ 69.6 \end{array}\right) $ | - 205.3 342.7 - 215.8 | 69.6 - 215.8 277.5 | $\begin{pmatrix} 205.3 \\ 215.8 \\ 61.7 \end{pmatrix}$ | (5.5) (1.9) (1.5) |
| WHNR_E (West) White noise | $ \left(\begin{array}{c} 1.73\\ 7.50\\ 14.84 \end{array}\right) $ | $ \begin{pmatrix} 1.00 & -0.84 \\ 0.83 & 0.36 \\ 0.49 & 1.00 \end{pmatrix} $ | -0.55 1.00 -0.76 | (165.0 - 203.8 67.5 | - 203.8 344.0 - 217.8 | 67.5 - 217.8 277.8 | $\begin{pmatrix} 203.8 \\ 217.8 \\ 60.0 \end{pmatrix}$ | $\begin{pmatrix} 6.7\\ 1.9\\ 1.2 \end{pmatrix}$ |

TABLE 3-3 Dynamic Characteristics History of the Retrofitted ModelFrom Low Level Vibrations (White Noise PGA 0.025g)

where

$$\Omega = diag(\omega_1^2, \omega_2^2, \dots, \omega_n^2)$$

$$\Phi$$
 = mass normalized mode shape matrix ($\phi^{T}M\phi$ = I)

Table 3-3 shows the history of dynamic characteristics of the building prior to the retrofit with the viscoelastic braces (from Bracci et al., 1992c).

3.2.2 Analytical Identification of Stiffness

The analytical stiffness matrix was computed by a standard matrix condensation of the massless degrees of freedom of the structure. Expressing the overall stiffness matrix \mathbf{K} without addition of dampers in (2.1) as

$$\mathbf{K} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{K}_{\alpha\alpha} & \mathbf{K}_{\alpha\beta} \\ \mathbf{K}_{\beta\alpha} & \mathbf{K}_{\beta\beta} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.2)

where subscripts α and β correspond to mass and massless degrees of freedom respectively. The reduced stiffness matrix is determined as

$$\mathbf{K}^{*} = \mathbf{K}_{\alpha\alpha} - \mathbf{K}_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{K}_{\beta\beta}^{-1} \mathbf{K}_{\beta\alpha}$$
(3.3)

Reinforced concrete has a nonlinear hysteretic behavior in which the force depends on the past history of deformations and the current state of deformation. The stiffness variations are also memory dependent and are defined by the past as well as current state of deformation dictated by the hysteretic activity it undergoes. In order to predict the response of buildings which have previously experienced inelastic deformations, the hysteretic properties for all the components would need to be updated before proceeding any new analyses. As the model was subjected to a number of damaging base motions prior to retrofitting with concrete jacketing, the response predictions for subsequent tests became questionable. To overcome this hurdle, a simplifying

| Analytical Stiffness Matrix (kip/in) (1) | Experimental Stiffness Matrix (kip/in) (2) | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| (a) white Noise, PGA 0.02 $\mathbf{K} = \begin{pmatrix} 183.6 & -239.6 & 70.0 \\ -239.6 & 421.4 & -278.5 \\ 70.0 & -278.5 & 430.0 \end{pmatrix}$ | $\mathbf{K} = \begin{pmatrix} 205.2 & -238.6 & 71.6 \\ -238.6 & 421.4 & -278.2 \\ 71.6 & -278.2 & 432.7 \end{pmatrix}$ | | |
| (b) White Noise, PG | A 0.025 during Test #1 | | |
| $\mathbf{K} = \begin{pmatrix} 152.5 & -184.8 & 39.6 \\ -184.8 & 315.0 & -166.8 \\ 39.6 & -166.8 & 222.0 \end{pmatrix}$ | $\mathbf{K} = \begin{pmatrix} 168.1 & -205.3 & 69.6 \\ -205.3 & 342.7 & -215.8 \\ 69.6 & -215.8 & 277.5 \end{pmatrix}$ | | |

TABLE 3-4 Analytical Versus Experimental Damping and Stiffness

assumption was made by which the member structural properties were determined from engineering data by slightly modifying the gross moments of inertia such that the overall dynamic characteristics of the building were in agreement with those obtained experimentally from the first low level vibrations under earthquake excitation test. The identification of the stiffness matrix using this procedure insured that the influence of the viscoelastic braces can be suitably incorporated. The analytical stiffness matrix is compared in Table 3-4, with the one identified from experiments using the measured properties.

3.3 Identification of Natural Frequencies and Damping Ratios

The experimental damping ratios are estimated by the half-power method, from the story transfer functions. The analytical damping ratios are computed from Eqs. (2.13), (2.16) and (2.26). The identified properties using the two sets of dampers are listed in Table 3-5. Adding the inherent viscous damping properties of the structure without the additional braces, the total damping ratio

| Identified Dynamic | Retrofitted Structure with Dampers | | | |
|--|---|--|--|--|
| Characteristic (1) | A (2) | B (3) | | |
| (a | Experimental Properties | | | |
| Modal Matrix (Φ) | $ \begin{pmatrix} 1.00 & -0.72 & 0.55 \\ 0.87 & 0.26 & -1.00 \\ 0.49 & -1.00 & 0.65 \end{pmatrix} $ | $ \begin{pmatrix} 1.00 & -0.72 & 0.56 \\ 0.88 & 0.24 & -1.00 \\ 0.50 & 1.00 & 0.64 \end{pmatrix} $ | | |
| First Mode Frequency, f [Hz.] | 2.62 | 2.13 | | |
| Total Damping [Exp.] ξ(%) | 22.0 | 18.0 | | |
| (b) Analytical Properties from Equivalent Dynamic Analysis | | | | |
| Ist. mode Freq. [[Rad] / [Hz]] | 15.38 / 2.45 | 13.07 / 2.08 | | |
| Added Damping $\xi(\%)$ | 19.7 | 15.3 | | |
| Total Damping ξ(%) | 21.2 | 16.8 | | |
| (c) Analytical Properties from Complex Eigenvalue Analysis | | | | |
| 1st. Mode Rotational Freq. [Rad] | 2.96 ± i 14.96 | 1.98 ± i 12.94 | | |
| 1st. Mode Freq. [[Rad] / [Hz]] | 14.96 / 2.38 | 12.94 / 2.06 | | |
| Added Damping ² ξ (%) | 19.4 | 15.1 | | |
| Total Damping ξ | 20.9 | 16.6 | | |

TABLE 3-5 Structure's Properties with Viscoelastic Dampers From Strong Vibrations

obtained is close to that identified from the experiment. It is observed that the damping ratios computed analytically are slightly lower than that obtained from experiment. This could be because the energy dissipated by hysteretic dampers is not included in the analytical computations of equivalent damping. Also for the range of damping in consideration, the response is not very sensitive to the additional damping, either inherent viscous, or the inaccuracies in the determination of the appropriate supplemental damping.

1from Eq. (2.13) **2**from Eq. (2.26)

_

| Structures Properties | | Retrofitted Structure with Dampers | | |
|--|--------------------|------------------------------------|----------|--|
| | (1) | A (2) | B (3) | |
| Story Damping, c | Experimental | 2.10 | 1.55 | |
| (kip/in/sec) | Analytical (total) | 2.07 | 1.60 | |
| | Experimental | 49.0 | 27.5 | |
| Story Stiffness, Analytical (dampers only) | | 34.0 | 15.0 | |
| k (kip/in) | Analytical (total) | 50.0 | 28.0 | |

TABLE 3-6 Analytical Versus Experimental Damping and Stiffness

The damping properties and the stiffness of each floor, shown in Table 3-6, were calculated from data in Table 3-1 and Eq. (2.7) and compared with those measured in the identification tests. The properties corresponding to frequencies of 2.5 Hz and 2.0 Hz, closet to the actual 2.6Hz and 2.2Hz for braces with dampers A and B respectively were selected for analytical evaluation.

The stiffness properties calculated without considering the influence of the mounting brackets of braces differ largely from those considering the influence of the brackets influence; (see contribution of stiffness from damper alone computed from Table 3-1 to the total stiffness in Table 3-6). The "total" values are used in further analysis for comparison of performances.

3.4 Memory Dependancy in R/C Members

The effect of "memory" in the inelastic properties and the sensitivity of structural response to this memorize effect is shown in Fig. 3.1. The analysis for Test episode #5, subsequent to various other tests (see Table 3-2), was done in two ways: (i) independently without precise knowledge of the modified hysteretic properties of reinforced concrete members [see Fig. 3-7(a)] and (ii) in a sequential consecutive fashion (ie. analyzing all prior episodes of testing and the current one consecutively), such that the hysteretic properties are automatically updated [see Fig. 3-7 (b)]. It is evident that the "memorization" of hysteretic properties is important and the sequential analysis



b. Hysteretic Properties Updated - Following Sequential Analysis



duplicates the experimental results suitably.

3.5 Comparison of Displacement and Acceleration Time Histories

A comparison of story displacement, and acceleration, time histories for tests #3 #5 #8 and #11 are shown in figs. Figures 3.8 through 3.15. The analytical response is in good agreement with the experimental response. Due to the high level of damping the inelastic response is reduced substantially and with it many of the possible errors usually involved in nonlinear dynamic analysis.

3.6 Damper Forces

For two dampers placed at an angle θ with the horizontal, the component of damping in the lateral direction is

$$c_{tarrad} = 2c \cos^2 \theta \tag{3.4}$$

and the component of additional stiffness in the lateral direction is

$$k_{tateral} = 2k_s \cos^2 \theta \tag{3.5}$$

The lateral force in the damper was computed as a combination of elastic and damping components. The force in each damper (assuming two dampers per floor) is therefore:

$$f_i = [k_{lateral}(u_i - u_{i-1}) + c_{lateral}(u_i - u_{i-1})]/2\cos\theta \quad \text{for } i \neq 1$$
(3.6a)

$$f_i = [k_{iaseral}u_i + c_{iaseral}\dot{u}_i]/2\cos\theta \qquad \text{for } i = 1 \qquad (3.6b)$$

where i = the story level.

A comparison of the forces obtained in the dampers from Eq. (3.6a) and Eq. (3.6b) to those obtained from the experiment are shown in Figs. 3-16 through 3-19. The differences are minimal.



FIGURE 3-8 Displacement Time History with Dampers A for Taft, PGA 0.05g



FIGURE 3-9 Displacement Time History with Dampers B for Taft, PGA 6.05g



FIGURE 3-10 Displacement Time History with Dampers A for Taft, PGA 0.2g



FIGURE 3-11 Displacement Time History with Dampers B for Taft, PGA 0.2g



FIGURE 3-12 Acceleration Time History with Dampers A for Taft, PGA 0.05g



FIGURE 3-13 Acceleration Time History with Dampers B for Taft, PGA 0.05g



1 . Na

FIGURE 3-14 Acceleration Time History with Dampers A for Taft, PGA 0.2g



FIGURE 3-15 Acceleration Time History with Dampers B for Taft, PGA 0.2g



FIGURE 3-16 Force Displacement of Dampers A for Taft, PGA 0.05g



FIGURE 3-17 Force Displacement of Dampers B for Taft, PGA 0.05g



FIGURE 3-18 Force Displacement of Dampers A for Taft, PGA 0.2g



FIGURE 3-19 Force Displacement of Dampers B for Taft, PGA 0.2g

3.7 Base Shears and Damper Stiffnesses

The base shear developed in the columns is compared with this obtained from the experiment in Figs. 3-20 through 3-23. Only a limited inelastic response occurs in columns while energy is mostly dissipated by the viscoelastic braces. The braces also display substantial stiffness as shown by the sloped hysterias in Figs. 3-16 through 3-19. The stiffness calculated without considering the influence of mounting brackets is largely different from this considering the brackets influences. (see contribution of stiffness from damper alone computed from Table 3-1 to the total stiffness in Table 3-4). The "total" values are used in further analysis for comparison of performances.



FIGURE 3-20 Base Shear in Columns with Dampers A for Taft, PGA 0.05g



FIGURE 3-21 Base Shear in Columns with Dampers B for Taft, PGA 0.05g

3-32



FIGURE 3-22 Base Shear in Columns with Dampers A for Taft, PGA 0.2g

3-33



FIGURE 3-23 Base Shear in Columns with Dampers B for Taft, PGA 0.2g

SECTION 4

EFFECTS OF VISCOELASTIC BRACES ON STRUCTURAL RESPONSE

The interpretation of the experimental data requires a good analytical model that is capable of providing internal information of forces, local deformations and changes in structural characteristics. The analytical model specified and verified in the previous sections is used in conjunction with the experimental results to identify the influence of the dampers on the modification of stiffness, redistribution of internal forces and redistribution of energy dissipation between elements. The influence of viscoelastic dampers is summarized as follows:

4.1 Natural Frequencies/Period

The structure with viscoelastic braces subjected to low level (white noise) displays simultaneous increase in frequencies and equivalent viscous damping in all modes as shown in Figs. 4-1 and 4-2 and numerically in Table 4-1. The apparent damping increased 4 times in the structure with dampers A and 3 times in the structure with dampers B. Both types of dampers contribute to an increase in structural stiffness and therefore a reduction of the natural period that might contribute to an increase of the overall base shear.

| (1) | Natural Frequency (Hz) (2) | Period (sec) (3) | Equivalent Viscous Damping % (4) |
|---------------|-------------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------------|
| No dampers | 1.88 | 0.53 | 5.5 |
| With damper A | 2.93 | 0.34 | 22.0 |
| With damper B | 2.54 | 0.39 | 18.0 |

TABLE 4-1 First Mode Dynamic Characteristics During Low Level Vibration Tests



FIGURE 4-1 Acceleration Transfer Function with Dampers A (for White Noise PGA 0.025g)





The frequencies identified from the white noise tests show a higher natural frequency for both dampers types A and B than that determined during earthquake (Tests #5 and #11, Table 3-2) from the transfer functions for the top story acceleration. The reason for these differences is in the nonlinearity of the cracked reinforced concrete sections. At very low vibrations, pre-existing cracks do not open and the sections behave almost like ideal "gross sections". At larger vibrations, such as those created during earthquakes, the cracks open thus reducing the stiffness and their "natural frequency". Small variations are observed also for the equivalent damping.

4.2 Story Forces and Drifts

The inter-story drifts and story shears in the columns are substantially reduced at all floors as indicated in Table 4-2. While the deformations are reduced approximately 3 times, the shear forces are reduced only twice. These forces are much smaller than the ultimate strength of the columns, moreover smaller than their yielding strength (see also Bracci et. al., 1992a and 1992c). A set of force-deformations at the first floor for Taft earthquake motion (PGA 0.20g) (see Figs. 4-3 and 4-4) indicates that the column forces and deformations are substantially reduced, while most of the energy dissipation (area of hysteretic loops) is transferred from the columns to the viscoelastic dampers. Although some inelastic deformations are experienced by the columns, their response is substantially improved in the presence of the viscoelastic braces.

4.3 Columns Axial Forces

The addition of braces changes the load transfer pattern in the structure. Additional axial forces will be generated in the columns by the added brace stiffness which are in phase with the other forces from the structural stiffening system.

The axial force variation in the columns in the presence of dampers is shown in Figs. 4-5 and 4-6. The trajectory of variation of the axial forces and moments are plotted in comparison to the failure envelopes on a P-M interaction curve. The reduction in the moment demand (horizontal fluctuation)



FIGURE 4-3 Forces-Deformations at First Floor with Dampers A for (PGA 0.2g)



FIGURE 4-4 Forces-Deformations at First Floor with Dampers B for (PGA 0.2g)



FIGURE 4-5 Capacity Diagrams versus Force Demands in Interior Columns with Dampers A



FIGURE 4-6 Capacity Diagrams versus Force Demands in Interior Columns with Dampers B

| | Inter | -Story Drifts, | (in.) | Column Story Shears, (kips) | | |
|------------------------------|-------|----------------|---------------|-----------------------------|--------|-------|
| | First | Second | Third | First | Second | Third |
| (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) | (5) | (6) | (7) |
| | | (a) For V | White Noise E | Excitation | | |
| No Dampers | 0.047 | 0.034 | 0.018 | 2.38 | 1.53 | 1.33 |
| Damper A | 0.016 | 0.013 | 0.008 | 0.97 | 0.65 | 0.46 |
| Damper B | 0.019 | 0.017 | 0.008 | 1.25 | 0.84 | 0.52 |
| (b) For Taft 0.2g Excitation | | | | | | |
| No Dampers | 0.656 | 0.388 | 0.167 | 20.63 | 16.20 | 10.71 |
| Damper A | 0.194 | 0.147 | 0.066 | 7.68 | 5.71 | 4.19 |
| Damper B | 0.297 | 0.196 | 0.097 | 9.47 | 8.25 | 4.67 |

TABLE 4-2 Maximum Measured Story Response

is quite significant with the addition of dampers. However some inclination of the trajectory is noticed, more significantly in the first story columns. This indicate some variation of the axial load. Although insignificant in this test case, increase in axial forces might lead to exceedence of capacity envelope. Care should be taken in the design of columns with dampers such that the axial load/ moment demand do not intersect with the failure envelope. This could be of serious concern especally in the design of taller structures, where the axial load gets accumulated at the base.

4.4 Energy Input

The effect of the viscoelastic dampers is more evident in the distribution of the energy input throughout the structural system. Assuming that the energy balance (Uang and Bertero, 1990) at each time step in any structure is:

$$E_{k} + E_{p} + E_{H} + E_{\xi} = E_{I}$$
(4.1)

where E_k is the kinetic energy, E_p is the elastic/potential energy, E_H is the hysteretic energy dissipated by the structural system, E_5 is the viscous damped energy, and E_I is the total energy input. The hysteretic energy (E_{-1} is usually associated with the permanent damage in the structural system. A reduction of this energy can result in a reduction of damage.

The addition of dampers adds another term to the energy balance:

$$E_{t} + E_{H} + E_{\xi} + E_{V} = E_{t}$$
(4.2)

where E_{VF} is the energy dissipated by the added viscoelastic dampers and E_E is the elastic-kinetic energy $(E_k + E_p)$.

The viscoelastic dampers alter the overall energy input balance as shown in Fig. 4-7. For the earthquake used in the experiment (Taft 1952), shown in Figs. 4-7a,b the total input energy is increased primarily due to stiffness increase. However the added viscoelastic dampers dissipate the majority of this energy, leaving only a small amount of hysteretic energy to be dissipated by the structure. In the structure without dampers, the majority of input energy is dissipated in form of hysteretic energy by the structural components, that are actually damaged. Similar pictures are obtained analytically for other earthquakes (see Fig. 4-9), although the overall energy input may vary depending on the match between the structural frequencies and the earthquake frequency content.

4.5 Damage Mechanism

The amount of damage to the individual members, story levels, and overall structure from seismic excitations can be described analytically in terms of damage indicators defined as damage indicies. These damage indicies are used to evaluate the extent of damage on a scale representing minor, moderate, or severe damage. Damage index models have been developed to incorporate effects of ductility demand and low cycle fatigue or strength deterioration by Park et al. (1985), Chung et al.



FIGURE 4-7 Energy Input in the Test Structure

(1987), Powell et al. (1988), and Bracci et al. (1989). It has been shown, that a combination of deformation and strength deterioration damages provide an accurate assessment of the member damage and of the remaining reserve capacity. Such a damage model is used here to verify the structure performance and dampers. This model is a modified version of the Park and Ang's model [Kunnath et al. 1990] expressed in terms of moments and curvatures of structural members. The expression for this damage index is given by:

$$DI = \frac{\Phi_{max}}{\Phi_{ult}} + \frac{\beta \int dE}{\Phi_{ult}M_y}$$
(4.3)

where $\phi_{\text{max}} = \text{maximum}$ observed curvature, $\phi_{utr} = \text{ultimate}$ curvature, $\beta = \text{strength}$ deterioration factor, $\int dE = \text{absorbed}$ hysteretic energy, $M_x = \text{yield}$ moment. A procedure for determining the ultimate curvature in both columns and beams was proposed by Bracci et al. (1989), with the damage index formulated to vary between 0 and 1. The extent of damage to the structure is determined from the following damage index table.

| DI = 1.0 | Collapse |
|------------------|--------------------------------|
| 0.66 ≤ DI < 1 | Severe - "Irrepairable" Damage |
| 0.33 ≤ DI < 0.66 | Moderate - "Repairable" Damage |
| 0.0 < DI < 0.33 | Minor - "Serviceable" Damage |

The structure with viscoelastic dampers experiences a reduced number of plastic hinges and cracks when subjected to the same earthquake motions (see Fig. 4-8). In fact, only minor cracks and some unavoidable base column hinging can be noticed. The damage configuration (hinging) does not indicate development of either the column-sidesway or beam-sidesway collapse mechanisms. The actual story damage evaluated using the above model is shown in Fig 4-9. It indicates the efficiency of the added braces to limit the damage to less than half of that developed in the original unretrofitted structure.


4-13

SECTION 5

INFLUENCE OF VISCOELASTIC PROPERTIES ON SEISMIC RESPONSE OF R/C STRUCTURES

The 1:3 scale model structure described in the previous section is further used as the subject in an analytical evaluation for studying the effects of increasing either the viscous properties, or elastic stiffness properties, or both of the above, for seismic retrofit of reinforced concrete structures using viscoelastic materials.

It is well known that increased viscous properties in an elastic structure (ie. increase in the equivalent critical damping ratio) contributes to a reduction in the dynamic response amplification as shown in Fig. 5-1a. It is also known that a structure responding inelastically experiences a softening effect or a reduction in its fundamental frequency (see Fig. 5-1b). The effect of increasing the viscous properties is more drastic in an inelastic system, since it limits the decrease of the fundamental frequency to a stable level not far below its elastic value (see Fig. 5-2).

Viscoelastic dampers have also a substantial contribution to the initial stiffness of the structure. The added stiffness supplied by viscoelastic braces increases the first mode natural frequency in an elastic superstructure as shown in Fig. 5-3a, while the viscous properties have a small effect. In reinforced concrete structures experiencing inelastic deformations, the additional stiffness increase the natural frequency, only if substantial damping is added to the structure. Otherwise the tendency of stiffness softening during inelastic response will almost compensate for the increased stiffness due to addition of dampers. It should be noted that while the stiffening effect may lead to better control of lateral deformations, the same stiffening may lead to larger forces produced during various ground motions. In such cases, the positive effect of added damping might be diminished by the stiffening effect.



b. Inelastic Superstructure

FIGURE 5-3 Variation of First Mode Frequencies

The effect of viscoelastic properties is best summarized in Fig. 5-4 which shows the influence of increasing viscous properties and stiffness on the base shear and story displacement response of the structure. For the test type excitation, ie Taft 1952, the base shear increases almost 3 times due to 40% additional stiffness in the braces, if no viscous damping is added. However with the addition of more than 12% damping, the base shear is reduced independently of the stiffness increase (see Fig. 5-4a). It is worthwhile noting that the displacements are reduced somewhat by the stiffness increase the damping. The variation of response characteristics was obtained for the 1952 Taft ground motion. This particular ground motion produced substantial changes in the inelastic response, more than any other motion used in the study and therefore is being thought as representative.

It is also worthwhile noting that the change in the initial stiffness alters the overall apparent critical damping ratio (obtained from the free vibration "tail" of an earthquake analysis). In an inelastic response, the hysteretic behavior generally adds to the apparent damping. However in certain cases, the overall critical damping is slightly decreased (see Fig. 5-5). This is due to the more erratic response and possibly due to inaccuracies in determining the equivalent damping during the inelastic response.



FIGURE 5-4 Influence of Earthquake on Structural Response with Viscoelastic Braces



FIGURE 5-5 Apparent Equivalent Damping with Viscoelastic Braces with Added Stiffness (Percent of First Story)

SECTION 6

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The response of reinforced concrete structures, in general, and those that already suffered previous damage can benefit from the strengthening using viscous or viscoelastic dampers. The addition of substantial damping in many cases offsets the negative effect that might be caused from the stiffening of the system.

The analytical studies of reinforced concrete structures under various earthquake motions indicates that an increase of damping to an overall ratio of 15% or larger will produce effects that will outweigh the stiffness increase associated with viscoelastic dampers. These studies show an excellent benefit of increasing only the viscous damping, which can be obtained using other types of dampers such as liquid silicon dampers (Constantinou et al., 1992, Reinhorn et al., 1993).

The scaled model experiments and this analytical study indicate that retrofit using viscoelastic dampers can reduce the overall response, but more importantly, can reduce the risk of developing a damaging mechanism near collapse. In particular, the hysteretic energy dissipation is transferred from the load bearing elements, such as the columns or beams, to non-load bearing devices that can dissipate energy without damage.

This paper presents a simplified analytical model of viscoelastic braces that can be used in conjunction with a step-by-step dynamic analysis used for reinforced concrete structures. The model was verified by shaking table tests that emphasize the adequacy of the simplified modeling.

Finally, the analytical platform for evaluation of damage in R/C structures with viscoelastic dampers presented herein can also analyze more complicated damping devices that can be represented by alternative viscoelastic or hysteretic models. Due to its step-by-step solution characteristics, variable damping characteristics can also be considered. Dampers with such characteristics were proposed for further improvement and control of seismic response in structures (Reinhorn et al., 1993).

SECTION 7

REFERENCES

Aiken, I.D. and Kelly, J.M. (1990). "Earthquake Simulator Testing and Analytical Studies of Two Energy - Absorbing Systems for Multistory Structures", *Report No. UCB/EERC* - 90/03, University of California at Berkeley.

Ashour, S.A. and Hanson, R.D. (1987). "Elastic Seismic Response of Buildings with Supplemental Damping", Univ. of Michigan/Ann Arbor, Report UMCE 87-1.

Bergman, D.M. and Hanson, R.D. (1990). "Viscoelastic Versus Steel Plate Mechanical Damping Devices: an Experimental Comparison", *Proceedings of Fourth U.S. National Conference on Earthquake Engineering*, May 20-24, Palm Springs, California, Vol. 3, pp. 469-477.

Bracci, J.M., Reinhorn, A.M., and Mander, J.B. (1992a). "Seismic Resistance of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures Designed only for Gravity Loads: Part I - Design and Properties of a One-Third Scale Model Structure", Technical Report NCEER-92-0027, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, SUNY/Buffalo. (in print)

Bracci, J.M., Reinhorn, A.M., and Mander, J.B. (1992b). "Seismic Resistance of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures Designed only for Gravity Loads: Part III - Experimental Performance and Analytical Study of Structural Model", Technical Report NCEER-92-0029, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, SUNY/Buffalo. (in print)

Bracci, J.M., Reinhorn, A.M., and Mander, J.B. (1992c). "Evaluation of Seismic Retrofit of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures: Part II - Experimental Performance and Analytical Study of Retrofitted Structural Model Structure", Technical Report NCEER-92-0031, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, SUNY/Buffalo. (in print)

Caravani, P. and Thomson, W.T. (1974). "Identification of Damping Coefficient in Multidimensional Linear Systems", *Journal of Applied Mechanics*, V41, pp. 379-382.

Chang, K.C., Soong, T.T., Oh, S-T. and Lai, M.L. (1991). "Seismic Response of a 2/5 Scale Steel Structure with Added Viscoelastic Dampers". *Report No. NCEER* - 91-0012, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, Buffalo, N.Y.

Kunnath, S.K., Reinhorn, A.M., and Lobo, R.F. (1992). "IDARC - Version 3.0: Inelastic Damage Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Structures", Technical Report NCEER-92-0022, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, SUNY/Buffalo. (in print)

Liang, Z. and Lee, G.C. (1991). "Damping of Structures: Part 1 - Theory of Complex Damping", Technical Report NCEER-91-0004, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, SUNY/Buffalo, October.

Lin, R.C., Liang, Z., Soong, T.T., Zhang, R.H., and Mahmoodi, P. (1991). "An Experimental Study on Seismic Behavior of Viscoelastically Damped Structures", *Eng. Struct.*, Vol. 13, pp. 75-84.

Lin, R.C., Liang, Z., Soong, T.T., and Zhang, R.H. (1988). "An Experimental Study of Seismic Structural Response with Added Viscoelastic Dampers", Technical Report NCEER-88-0018, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, SUNY/Buffalo, June.

Lobo, R.F., Kunnath, S.K., and Reinhorn, A.M. (1992a). "3D Instastic Dynamic Analysis of RC Structures", *Computing in Civil Engineering and Geographic Information Systems Symposium*, B.G. Goodno and J.R. Wright, eds., ASCE, NY.

Mahmoodi, P. (1969). "Structural Dampers", ASCE Journal of the Structural Division, Vol. 95, August, pp. 1661-1672,

Pall, A.S. and Marsh, C. (1982). "Response of Friction Damped Braced Frames", *Journal of Structural Engineering*, ASCE, 108(6), 1313 - 1323.

Park, Y.J., Reinhorn, A.M., and Kunnath, S.K. (1987). "IDARC: Inelastic Damage Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Frame -- Shear-Wall Structures", Technical Report NCEER-87-0008, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, SUNY/Buffalo.

Rodriguez-Gomez, S., Chung, Y.S., and Meyer, C. (1990). "SARCF-II User's Guide - Seismic Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Frames", Technical Report NCEER-90-0027, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, SUNY/Buffalo.

Scholl, R.E. (1990). "Improve the Earthquake Performance of Structures with Added Damping and Stiffness Elements", *Proceedings of Fourth U.S. National Conference on Earthquake Engineering*, May 20-24, Palm Springs, California. Scholl, R.E. and Martinez-Romero, E. (1986). "Earthquake Retrofit Design of a 12 - story Building using Structural Dampers", *Proceedings of the Second International Engineering and Technology Conference*, Mexico City, Mexico, August.

Scholl, R.E. (1990). "Improve the Earthquake Performance of Structures with Added Damping and Stiffness Elements", *Proceedings of Fourth U.S. National Conference on Earthquake Engineering*, May 20-24, Palm Springs, California.

Soong, T.T., and Lai, M.L. (1991). "Correlation of experimental results with predictions of viscoelastic damping for a model structure." Proc. Damping '91, Air Force Systems Command, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio, FCB1-7

Su, Y.F. and Hanson, R.D. (1990). 'Comparison of Effective Supplemental Damping Equivalent Viscous and Hysteretic", *Proceedings of Fourth U.S. National Conference on Earthquake Engineering*, May 20-24, Palm Springs, California, Vol. 3, pp. 507-516.

Uang, C-M. and Bertero, V.V. (1990). "Evaluation of Seismic Energy in Structures", *Earthquake* Engineering and Structural Dynamics, Vol. 19, 77-90.

Xia, C. and Hanson, R.D. (1992). "Influence of ADAS Element Parameters on Building Seismic Response", *Journal of Structural Engineering*, Vol. 118, No. 7, July, pp. 1903-1918.

Whittaker, A.S., Bertero, V. V., Alonso, J.L. and Thompson, C.L. (1989). "Earthquake Simulator Testing of Steel Plate Added Damping and Stiffness Elements", *Report No. UCB/EERC - 89/02*, University of California, Berkeley.

Wu, J. and Hanson, R. (1989). "Study of Inelastic Spectra with High Damping", *Journal of Structural Engineering*, ASCE, 115(6), 1412-1431

APPENDIX A

A 1-1 Reinforcement Details

The following provides details of the reinforcing steel used in the model based on scale factor of 3 for geometric length similitude. Detailed information is presented by Bracci et al., (1992a), but is repeated here for sake of completion of this report.

The slab steel in the prototype structure was designed by the direct design method of the ACI 318/83. The design required #3 rebars at 6 in. spacing in different sections of the slab. To avoid excess labor in the construction of the 3-story model, a 2 in. square mesh composed of gauge 12 galvanized wires is chosen for acceptable similitudes of strength and geometric spacing length. Since the slab strength is not the main emphasis for this study, the slight disparities of slab steel placement due to the mesh are considered satisfactory for the experiment. Figure A-1 shows the layout details for the top and bottom reinforcing steel mesh in the slab. The longitudinal (direction of motion) and transverse (perpendicular to the direction of motion) beam reinforcement details for the model are shown in Fig. A-2. Figure A-3 shows the reinforcement details for the columns in the model based on the prototype design.

A 1.2 Model Materials

The following outlines the materials used in the construction of the model. It is to be noted that the materials used in the model are identical to materials in assumed prototype structure (Bracci et al., 1992 a). Therefore the scale factors were appropriately developed based on the principles of modeling the same acceleration and material.

A 1.2.1 Concrete properties

The concrete mix analysis and design was based on trial mixes from various recipes and a design mix was established for a 28 day target strength of 3500 psi, slump of 4 in., and maximum aggregate size of 1/2 in (#1 crushed stone). Table A-1 shows the mix formula for a one cubic yard batch of concrete.

The mix formulation is based on a saturated, surface dry concrete sand. The water : cernent (: sand : stone) ratio is 0.5 : 1.0 (: 3.0 : 3.6). The full gradation analysis of the aggregates in the concrete mix is shown in Fig. A-4.



Reproduced from

FIGURE A-1 Layout of Slab Steel Reinforcement



Longitudinal Beams (North-South)



Transverse Beams (East-West)

FIGURE A-2a Details of the Beam Steel Reinforcement





<u>C – C</u>







FIGURE A-2b Details of the Beam Steel Reinforcement (Continued)



(a) Exterior Section

(b) Interior Section



(c) Section Y-Y

FIGURE A-3 Details of the Column Steel Reinforcement



FIGURE A-4 Gradation Analysis of the Concrete Mix



FIGURE A-5 Average Concrete Specimen Strength Versus Time

| Ingredient | Weight |
|------------------|---------|
| Type I Cement | 490 lb |
| Concrete Sand | 1487 lb |
| #1 Crushed Stone | 1785 lb |
| Water | 242 lb |
| Superplasticizer | 39.2 oz |
| Micro-Air | 2.9 oz |

Table A-1 Mix Design Formula for the Model Concrete

A substantial variation can be observed in the mix strengths for the different components, even though all mixes had the same target strength (see Table A-2). The final strengths were very sensitive to moisture variations in the materials and the widely varying ambient temperatures at the time of construction. The variation of strength versus time is shown in Fig. 3-5, which indicates asymptotic stabilization of concrete strength.

| Pour Number and Location | ر آر (ksi) | E _c (ksi) | ε _{co} (strains) | E _{spall} (strains) |
|----------------------------|---------------|-------------------------|------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| 1. Lower 1st Story Columns | 3.38 | 2920 | 0.0020 | 0.011 |
| 2. Upper 2nd Story Columns | 4.34 | 3900 | 0.0020 | 0.017 |
| 3. 1st Story Columns | 4.96 | 3900 | 0.0021 | 0.009 |
| 4. Lower 2nd Story Column | 4.36 | 3900 | 0.0026 | 0.014 |
| 5. Upper 2nd Story Column | 3.82 | 3360 | 0.0022 | 0.020 |
| 6. 2nd Story Slab | 2.92 | 2930 | 0.0015 | 0.020 |
| 7. 3rd Story Columns | 3.37 | 3800 | 0.0019 | 0.020 |
| 8. 3rd Story Slab | 4.03 | 3370 | 0.0021 | 0.012 |

Table A-2 Concrete Properties of the Model Structure

The reinforcing steel uses a mix of #11 & #12 gage wires and D4, D5 annealed deformed bars. The summary of their properties is given in Table A-3

| Bar | $\frac{d_{\mu}}{(\mathrm{in})}$ | A ₆ (in ²) | $\frac{f_s}{(\mathrm{ksi})}$ | <i>E_x</i> (ksi) | f _{max} (ksi) | £_ |
|---------|---------------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------|------|
| #12 ga. | 0.109 | 0.0093 | 58 | 29900 | 64 | 0.13 |
| | 0.120 | 0.0113 | 56 | 29800 | 70 | - |
| | 0.225 | 0.0400 | 68 | 31050 | 73 | 0.15 |
| | 0.252 | 0.0500 | 38 | 31050 | 54 | - |

Table A-3 Reinforcing Steel Properties of the Model Structure

The D4 rebar was also annealed at different temperatures between 900° F and 1140° F to produce a yield strength between 49 and 73 ksi for yield force similitude with a #6 rebar. At a temperature of 1140° F, the average yield strength consistently reached was 68 ksi. Based on yield force similitude, the D4 rebar represented a #6 rebar with a yield strength of 55.6 ksi. Since a grade 40 steel has yield strengths between 40 and 60 ksi, the D4 rebar satisfied similitude with a #6 rebar. Both the original and annealed stress-strain relationships for the D4 and D5 rebars are shown in Fig. A-6.



FIGURE A-6 Measured Representative Stress-Strain Relationships of the Reinforcing Steel

NATIONAL CENTER FOR EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING RESEARCH LIST OF TECHNICAL REPORTS

The National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research (NCEER) publishes technical reports on a variety of subjects related to earthquake engineering written by authors funded through NCEER. These reports are available from both NCEER's Publications Department and the National Technical Information Service (NTIS). Requests for reports should be directed to the Publications Department, National Center for Easthquake Engineering Research, State University of New York at Buffalo, Red Jacket Quadrangle, Buffalo, New York (1426). Reports can also be requested through NTIS, 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, Virgima 22161. NTIS accession numbers are shown in parenthesis, if available.

- NCEER 87-0001 "First Year Program in Research, Education and Technology Transfer," 3/5/87, (PB88-134275/AS).
- NCEER 87 0002 "Experimental Evaluation of Instantaneous Optimal Algorithms for Structural Control," by R.C. Lin, T.T. Soong and A.M. Reinborn, 4/20/87, (PB88-134341/AS).
- NCEER 87 (003) "Experimentation Using the Earthquake Simulation Facilities at University at Buffalo," by A.M. Reinhorn and R.L. Ketter, to be published.
- NCEER-87 (0014 "The System Characteristics and Performance of a Shaking Table," by J.S. Hwang, K.C. Chang and G.C. Lee, 6/1/87, (PB88-134259/AS). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER 87 0005 "A Finite Element Formulation for Nonlinear Viscoplastic Material Using a Q Model," by O. Gyebi and G. Dasgupta, 11/2/87, (PB88-213764/AS).
- NCEER 87 (006 "Symbolic Manipulation Program (SMP) Algebraic Codes for Two and Three Dimensional Finite Element Formulations," by X. Lee and G. Dasgupta, 11/9/87, (PB88-219522/AS).
- NCEER 87-0007 "Instantaneous Optimal Control Laws for Tall Buildings Under Seismic Excitations," by J.N. Yang, A. Akbarpour and P. Ghaemmaghami, 6/10/87, (PB88-134333/AS).
- NCEER-87-0008 "IDARC: Inelastic Damage Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Frame Shear-Wall Structures," by Y.J. Park, A.M. Reinform and S.K. Kunnath, 7/20/87, (PB88-134325/AS).
- NCEER 87 (2009) "Liquefaction Potential for New York State: A Preliminary Report on Sites in Manhattan and Buffalo," by M. Budhu, V. Vijayakumar, R.F. Giese and L. Baumgras, 8/31/87, (PB88-163704/AS). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0010 "Vertical and Torsional Vibration of Foundations in Inhomogeneous Media," by A.S. Veletsos and K.W. Dotson, 6/1/87, (PB88-134291/AS).
- NCEEK-87-0011 "Seismic Probabilistic Risk Assessment and Seismic Margins Studies for Nuclear Power Plants," by Howard H.M. Hwang, 6/15/87, (PB88-134267/AS).
- NCEER-87-(0)12 "Parametric Studies of Frequency Response of Secondary Systems Under Ground-Acceleration Excitations," by Y. Yong and Y.K. Lin, 6/10/87, (PB88-134309/AS).
- NCEER-87-0013 "Frequency Response of Secondary Systems Under Seismic Excitation," by J.A. HoLung, J. Cai and Y.K. Lin, 7/31/87, (PB88-134317/AS).
- NCEER-87-0014 "Modelling Earthquake Ground Motions in Seismically Active Regions Using Parametric Time Series Methods," by G.W. Ellis and A.S. Cakmak, 8/25/87, (PB88-134283/AS).
- NCEER 87-0015 "Detection and Assessment of Seismic Structural Damage," by E. DiPasquale and A.S. Cakmak, 8/25/87, (PB88-163712/AS).

- NCEER 87 (0)16 "Pipeline Experiment at Parkfield, California," by J. Isenberg and E. Richardson, 9/15/87, (PB88-163720/AS). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER 87 0017 "Digital Simulation of Seismic Ground Motion," by M. Shinozuka, G. Deodatis and T. Harada, 8/31/87, (PB88-155197/AS). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER 87 (0)18 "Practical Considerations for Structural Control. System Uncertainty, System Time Delay and Truncation of Small Control Forces," J.N. Yang and A. Akbarpour, 8/10/87, (PB88-163738/AS).
- NCEER 87 0019 "Middl Analysis of Nonclassically Damped Structural Systems Using Canonical Transformation," by J.N. Yang, S. Sarkani and F.X. Long, 9/27/87, (PB88-187851/AS)
- NCEER 87 0020 "A Nonstationary Solution in Random Vibration Theory," by J.R. Red Horse and P.D. Spanos, 11/3/87, (PB88 163746/AS).
- NCEER 87 0021 "Horizontal Impedances for Radially Inhomogeneous Viscoelastic Soil Layers," by A.S. Veletsos and K.W. Dotson, 10/15/87, (PB88-150859/AS)
- NCEER 87 0022 "Seismic Damage Assessment of Reinforced Concrete Members," by Y.S. Chung, C. Meyer and M. Shinozuka, 10/9/87, (PB88 150867/AS). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER 87 (023 'Active Structural Control in Civil Engineering," by T.T. Soong, 11/11/87, (PB88-187778/AS)
- NCEER 87 (024 "Vertical and Torsional Impedances for Radially Inhomogeneous Viscoelastic Soil Layers," by K.W. Dotson and A.S. Veletsos, 12/87, (PB88 187786/AS).
- NCEER 87 (025) "Proceedings from the Symposium on Seismic Hazards, Ground Motions, Soil-Liquefaction and Engineering Practice in Eastern North America," October 20-22, 1987, edited by K.H. Jacob, 12/87, (PB88-188115/AS).
- NCEER 87-0026 "Report on the Whittier Narrows, California, Earthquake of October 1, 1987," by J. Pantelic and A. Reinhorn, 11/87, (PB88-187752/AS). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0027 "Design of a Modular Program for Transient Nonlinear Analysis of Large 3-D Building Structures," by S Structures and J.F. Abel, 12/30/87, (PB88-187950/AS).
- NCEER-87-0028 "Second-Year Program in Research, Education and Technology Transfer," 3/8/88, (PB88-219480/AS).
- [NCEER-88 (00)] "Workshop on Seismic Computer Analysis and Design of Buildings With Interactive Graphics," by W. McGuire, J.F. Abel and C.H. Conley, 1/18/88, (PB88-187760/AS).
- NCEER-88-0002 "Optimal Control of Nonlinear Flexible Structures," by J.N. Yang, F.X. Long and D. Wong, 1/22/88, (PB88-213772/AS).
- NCEER-88-0003 "Substructuring Techniques in the Time Domain for Primary-Secondary Structural Systems," by G.D. Manolis and G. Juhn, 2/10/88, (PB88-213780/AS).
- NCEER-88-(KX)4 "Iterative Seismic Analysis of Primary-Secondary Systems," by A. Singhal, L.D. Lutes and P.D. Spanos, 2/23/88, (PB88-213798/AS).
- NCEER-88-0005 "Stochastic Finite Element Expansion for Random Media," by P.D. Spanos and R. Ghanem, 3/14/88, (PB88-213806/AS).

- NCEER 88 0006 "Combining Structural Optimization and Structural Control," by F.Y. Cheng and C.P. Pantelides, 1/10/88, (PB88-213814/AS).
- NCEER 88-0007 "Seismic Performance Assessment of Code Designed Structures," by H.H.M. Hwang, J.W. Jaw and H.J. Shau, 3/20/88, (PB88-219423/AS)
- NCEER 88 (0008 "Reliability Analysis of Code Designed Structures Under Natural Hazards," by H.H.M. Hwang, H. Ushiba and M. Shinozuka, 2/29/88, (PB88-229471/AS)
- NCEER 88 0009 "Seismic Fragility Analysis of Shear Wall Structures," by J-W Jaw and H.H.M. Hwang, 4/30/88, (PB89-102867/AS)
- NCEER 88 0010 "Base Isolation of a Multi Story Building Under a Harmonic Ground Motion A Comparison of Performances of Various Systems," by F. G. Fan, G. Ahmadi and LG. Tadjbakhsh, 5/18/88, (PB89-122238/AS)
- NCEER 88 0011 "Seismic Floor Response Spectra for a Combined System by Green's Functions," by F.M. Lavelle, L.A. Bergman and P.D. Spanos, 5/1/88, (PB89 102875/AS).
- NCEER 88 (0)12 "A New Solution Technique for Randomly Excited Hysteretic Structures," by G.Q. Cai and Y.K. Lin, 5/16/88, (PB89-102883/AS)
- NCEER 88-0013 "A Study of Radiation Damping and Soil-Structure Interaction Effects in the Centrifuge," by K. Weissman, supervised by J.H. Prevost, 5/24/88, (PB89-144703/AS).
- NCEER-88 (014 "Parameter Identification and Implementation of a Kinematic Plasticity Model for Erictional Soils," by J.H. Prevost and D.V. Griffiths, to be published.
- NCEER 88 (015 "Two: and Three: Dimensional Dynamic Finite Element Analyses of the Long Valley Dam," by D.V. Griffiths and J.H. Prevost, 6/17/88, (PB89-144711/AS).
- NCEER 88 (016 "Damage Assessment of Reinforced Concrete Structures in Eastern United States," by A.M. Reinhorn, M.J. Seidel, S.K. Kunnath and Y.J. Park, 6/15/88, (PB89-122220/AS).
- NCEER-88-0017 "Dynamic Compliance of Vertically Loaded Strip Foundations in Multilayered Viscoelastic Soils," by S Ahmad and A.S.M. Israil, 6/17/88, (PB89-102891/AS).
- NCEER-88-0018 "An Experimental Study of Seismic Structural Response With Added Viscoelastic Dampers," by R.C. Lin, Z. Liang, T.T. Soong and R.H. Zhang, 6/30/88, (PB89-122212/AS). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-(0)19 "Experimental Investigation of Primary Secondary System Interaction," by G.D. Manolis, G. Juhn and A.M. Reinhorn, 5/27/88, (PB89-122204/AS).
- NCEER-88 (020 "A Response Spectrum Approach For Analysis of Nonclassically Damped Structures," by J.N. Yang, S. Sarkani and F.X. Long, 4/22/88, (PB89-102909/AS).
- NCEER-88-0021 "Seismic Interaction of Structures and Soils: Stochastic Approach," by A.S. Veletsos and A.M. Prasad, 7/21/88, (PB89-122196/AS).
- NCEER-88-0022 "Identification of the Serviceability Limit State and Detection of Seismic Structural Damage," by E. DiPasquale and A.S. Cakmak, 6/15/88, (PB89-122188/AS). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-0023 "Multi-Hazard Risk Analysis: Case of a Simple Offshore Structure," by B.K. Bhartia and E.H. Vanmarcke, 7/21/88, (PB89-145213/AS).

NCEER 88-(025 - "Experimental Study of Active Control of MDOF Structures Under Seismic Excitations," by L.L. Chung, R.C. Lin, T.T. Soong and A.M. Reinhorn, 7/10/88, (PB89-122600/AS). NCEER 88-0026 "Earthquake Simulation Tests of a Low-Rise Metal Structure," by J.S. Hwang, K.C. Chang, G.C. Lee and R.L. Ketter, 8/1/88, (PB89-102917/AS). NCEER 88-0027 - "Systems Study of Urban Response and Reconstruction Due to Catastrophic Earthquakes," by F. Kozin and H.K. Zhou, 9/22/88, (PB90 162348/AS) NCEER 88-0028 - "Seismic Fragility Analysis of Plane Frame Structures," by H.H.M. Hwang and Y.K. Low, 7/31/88, (PB89-131445/AS). NCEER-88-0029 - "Response Analysis of Stochastic Structures," by A. Kardara, C. Bucher and M. Shinozuka, 9/22/88, (PB89-174429/AS). NCEER:88-0030 - "Nonnormal Accelerations Due to Yielding in a Primary Structure," by D.C.K. Chen and L.D. Lutes, 9/19/88, .PB89-131437/AS1 NCEER 88-0031 "Design Approaches for Soil-Structure Interaction," by A.S. Veletsos, A.M. Prasad and Y. Tang. 12/30/88, (PB89-174437/AS). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above). NCEER-88-0032 - "A Re-evaluation of Design Spectra for Seismic Damage Control," by C.J. Turkstra and A.G. Tallin, 11/7/88, (PB89-145221/AS). NCEER-88-0033 "The Behavior and Design of Noncontact Lap Sphees Subjected to Repeated Inelastic Tensile Loading," by V.E. Sagan, P. Gergely and R.N. White, 12/8/88, (PB89-163737/AS). NCEER-88-0034 "Seismic Response of Pile Foundations," by S.M. Mamoon, P.K. Banerjee and S. Ahmad, 11/1/88, (PB89-145239/AS). NCEER-88-0035 - "Modeling of R/C Building Structures With Flexible Floor Diaphragms (IDARC2)," by A.M. Reinhorn, S.K. Kunnath and N. Panahshahi, 9/7/88, (PB89-207153/AS). NCEER-88-0036 - "Solution of the Dam-Reservoir Interaction Problem Using a Combination of FEM, BEM with Particular Integrals, Modal Analysis, and Substructuring," by C-S. Tsai, G.C. Lee and R.L. Ketter, 12/31/88, (PB89-207146/AS). NCEER-88-0037 "Optimal Placement of Actuators for Structural Control," by F.Y. Cheng and C.P. Pantelides, 8/15/88, (PB89-162846/AS). "Tefton Bearings in Aseismic Base Isolation: Experimental Studies and Mathematical Modeling," by A. NCEER-88-0038 Mokha, M.C. Constantinou and A.M. Reinhorn, 12/5/88, (PB89-218457/AS). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given shove). NCEER-88-0039 "Seismic Behavior of Flat Slab High-Rise Buildings in the New York City Area," by P. Weidlinger and M. Ettouney, 10/15/88, (PB90-145681/AS). NCEER-88-0040 "Evaluation of the Earthquake Resistance of Existing Buildings in New York City," by P. Weidlinger and M. Enouncy, 10/15/88, to be published.

NCEER-88-0024 "Automated Seismic Design of Reinforced Concrete Buildings," by Y.S. Chung, C. Meyer and M. Shinozuka, 7/5/88, (PB89-122170/AS). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).

NCEER-88-0041 "Small-Scale Modeling Techniques for Reinforced Concrete Structures Subjected to Seismic Londs," by W. Kim, A. El-Attai and R.N. White, 11/22/88, (PB89-189625/AS).

- NCEER-88-0042 "Modeling Strong Ground Motion from Multiple Event Earthquakes," by G.W. Ellis and A.S. Cakmak, 10/15/88, (PB89-174445/AS).
- NCEER 88-0043 "Nonstationary Models of Seismic Ground Acceleration," by M. Grigoriu, S.E. Ruiz and E. Rosenblueth, 7/15/88, (PB89-189617/AS)
- NCEER-88-0044 "SARCF User's Guide Seismic Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Frances," by Y.S. Chung, C. Meyer and M. Shinozuka, 11/9/88, (PB89-174452/AS).
- NCEER-88-(045 "First Expert Panel Meeting on Disaster Research and Planning," edited by J. Pantelic and J. Stoyle, 9/15/88, (PB89-174460/AS).
- NCEER-88-0046 "Preliminary Studies of the Effect of Degrading Infill Walls on the Nonlinear Seismic Response of Steel Frames," by C.Z. Chrysostomou, P. Gergely and J.F. Abel, 12/19/88, (PB89-208383/AS).
- NCEER 88 0047 "Reinforced Concrete Frame Component Testing Facility Design, Construction, Instrumentation and Operation," by S.P. Pessiki, C. Conley, T. Bond, P. Gergely and R.N. White, 12/16/88, (PB89-174478/AS).
- NCEER-89-0001 "Effects of Protective Cushion and Soil Compliancy on the Response of Equipment Within a Seismically Excited Building," by J.A. HoLung, 2/16/89, (PB89-207179/AS).
- NCEER-89-0002 "Statistical Evaluation of Response Modification Factors for Reinforced Concrete Structures," by H.H.M. Hwang and J.W. Jaw. 2/17/89, (PB89-207187/AS).
- NCEER 89-0003 "Hysteretic Columns Under Random Excitation," by G-Q. Cat and Y.K. Lin, 1/9/89, (PB89-196513/AS).
- NCEER-89-(00)4 "Experimental Study of 'Elephant Foot Bulge' Instability of Thin-Walled Metal Tanks," by Z-H. Jia and R.L. Ketter, 2/22/89, (PB89-207195/AS).
- NCEER-89-0005 "Experiment on Performance of Buried Pipelines Across San Andreas Fault," by J. Isenberg, E. Richardson and T.D. O'Rourke, 3/10/89, (PB89-218440/AS).
- NCEER-89-(1006 "A Knowledge-Based Approach to Structural Design of Earthquake-Resistant Buildings," by M. Subramani, P. Gergely, C.H. Conley, J.F. Abel and A.H. Zaghw, 1/15/89, (PB89-218465/AS).
- NCEER-89-0007 "Liquefaction Hazards and Their Effects on Burned Pipelines," by T.D. O'Rourke and P.A. Lane, 2/1/89, (PB89-218481).
- NCEER-89-0008 "Fundamentals of System Identification in Structural Dynamics," by H. Imai, C-B. Yun, O. Maruyama and M. Shinozuka, 1/26/89, (PB89-207211/AS).
- NCEER-89-0009 "Effects of the 1985 Michoacan Earthquake on Water Systems and Other Buried Lifelines in Mexico," by A.G. Ayala and M.J. O'Rourke, 3/8/89, (PB89-207229/AS).
- NCEER-89-R010 "NCEER Bibliography of Earthquake Education Materials," by K.E.K. Ross, Second Revision, 9/1/89, (PB90-125352/AS).
- NCEER-89-0011 "Inelastic Three-Dimensional Response Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Building Structures (IDARC-3D), Part I - Modeling," by S.K. Kunnath and A.M. Reinhorn, 4/17/89, (PB90-114612/AS).
- NCEER-89-0012 "Recommended Modifications to ATC-14," by C.D. Poland and J.O. Malley, 4/12/89, (PB90-108648/AS).
- NCEER-89-0013 "Repair and Strengthening of Beam-to-Column Connections Subjected to Earthquake Loading," by M. Corazao and A.J. Durrani, 2/28/89, (PB90 109885/AS).

- NCEER-89-0014 "Program EXKAL2 for Identification of Structural Dynamic Systems," by O. Maruyama, C-B. Yun, M. Hoshiya and M. Shinozuka, 5/19/89, (PB90-109877/AS).
- NCEER-89-0015 "Response of Frames With Bolted Semi-Rigid Connections, Part I Experimental Study and Analytical Predictions," by P.J. DiCorso, A.M. Reinhorn, J.R. Dickerson, J.B. Radziminski and W.L. Harper, 6/1/89, to be published.
- NCEER-89-0016 "ARMA Monte Carlo Simulation in Probabilistic Structural Analysis," by P.D. Spanos and M.P. Mignolet, 7/10/89, (PB90) 109893/AS).
- NCEER-89-1917 "Preliminary Proceedings from the Conference on Disaster Preparedness The Place of Earthquake Education in Our Schools," Edited by K.E.K. Ross, 6/23/89.
- NCEER-89-0017 "Proceedings from the Conference on Disaster Preparedness The Place of Earthquake Education in Our Schools," Edited by K.E.K. Ross, 12/31/89, (PB90-207895). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-89-0018 "Multidimensional Models of Hysteretic Material Behavior for Vibration Analysis of Shape Memory Energy Absorbing Devices, by E.J. Graesser and F.A. Cozzarelli, 6/7/89, (PB90-164146/AS).
- NCEER-89-0019 "Nonlinear Dynamic Analysis of Three-Dimensional Base Isolated Structures (3D-BASIS)," by S. Nagarajaiah,
 A.M. Reinhorn and M.C. Constantinou, 8/3/89, (PB90-161936/AS). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-89-0020 "Structural Control Considering Time-Rate of Control Forces and Control Rate Constraints," by F.Y. Cheng and C.P. Pantelides, 8/3/89, (PB90-120445/AS).
- NCEER-89-0021 "Subsurface Conditions of Memphis and Shelby County," by K.W. Ng, T-S. Chang and H-H.M. Hwang, 7/26/89, (PB90-120437/AS).
- NCEER-89-0022 "Seismic Wave Propagation Effects on Straight Jointed Buried Pipelines," by K. Elhmadi and M.J. O'Rourke, 8/24/89. (PB90-162322/AS).
- NCEER-89-(1023 "Workshop on Serviceability Analysis of Water Delivery Systems," edited by M. Grigoriu, 3/6/89, (PB90-127424/AS).
- NCEER-89-0024 "Shaking Table Study of a 1/5 Scale Steel Frame Composed of Tapered Members," by K.C. Chang, J.S. Hwang and G.C. Lee, 9/18/89, (PB90-160169/AS).
- NCEER-89-(025 "DYNA1D: A Computer Program for Nonlinear Seismic Site Response Analysis Technical Documentation," by Jean H. Provost, 9/14/89, (PB90-161944/AS). This report is available only through TCTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-89-0026 "1:4 Scale Model Studies of Active Tendon Systems and Active Mass Dampers for Aseismic Protection," by A.M. Reinhorn, T.T. Soong, R.C. Lin, Y.P. Yang, Y. Fukao, H. Abe and M. Nakai, 9/15/89, (PB90-173246/AS).
- NCEER-89-0027 "Scattering of Waves by Inclusions in a Nonhomogeneous Elastic Half Space Solved by Boundary Element Methods," by P.K. Hadley, A. Askar and A.S. Cakmak, 6/15/89, (PB90-145699/AS).
- NCEER-89-0028 "Statistical Evaluation of Deflection Amplification Factors for Reinforced Concrete Structures," by H.H.M. Hwang, J-W. Jaw and A.L. Ch'ng, 8/31/89, (PB90-164633/AS).
- NCEER-89-0029 "Bedrock Accelerations in Memphis Area Due to Large New Madrid Earthquakes," by H.H.M. Hwang, C.H.S. Chen and G. Yu, 11/7/89, (PB90-162330/AS).

- NCEER 90-0008 "Pilot Study on Seismic Vulnerability of Crude Oil Transmission Systems," by T. Ariman, R. Dobry, M. Grigoriu, F. Kozin, M. O'Rourke, T. O'Rourke and M. Shinozuka, 5/25/90, (PB91-108837/AS).
- NCEER-90-0009 "A Program to Generate Site Dependent Time Histories: EQGEN," by G.W. Ellis, M. Srinivasan and A.S. Cakmak, 1/30/90, (PB91-108829/AS).
- NCEER-90-0010 "Active Isolation for Seismic Protection of Operating Rooms," by M.E. Talbott, Supervised by M. Shinozuka, 6/8/9, (PB9): 110205/AS).
- NCEER-90-0011 "Program LINEARID for Identification of Linear Structural Dynamic Systems," by C-B. Yun and M. Shinozuka, 6/25/90, (PB91-110312/AS).
- NCEER-90-0012 "Two-Dimensional Two-Phase Elasto-Plastic Seismic Response of Earth Dams," by A.N. Yiagos, Supervised by J.H. Prevost, 6/20/90, (PB91-110197/AS).
- NCEER-90-0013 "Secondary Systems in Base-Isolated Structures: Experimental Investigation, Stochastic Response and Stochastic Sensitivity," by G.D. Manolis, G. Juhn, M.C. Constantinou and A.M. Reinhom. 7/1/90, (PB91-110320/AS).
- NCEER-90-0014 "Seismic Behavior of Lightly-Reinforced Concrete Column and Beam-Column Joint Details," by S.P. Pessiki, C.H. Conley, P. Gergely and R.N. White, 8/22/90, (PB91-108795/AS).
- NCEER-90-0015 "Two Hybrid Control Systems for Building Structures Under Strong Earthquakes," by J.N. Yang and A. Danielians, 6/29/90, (PB91-125393/AS).
- NCEER-90-0016 "Instantaneous Optimal Control with Acceleration and Velocity Feedback," by J.N. Yang and Z. Li, 6/29/90, (PB91-125401/AS).
- NCEER-90-0017 "Reconnaissance Report on the Northern Iran Earthquake of June 21, 1990," by M. Mehrain, 10/4/90, (PB91-125377/AS).
- NCEER-90-0018 "Evaluation of Liquefaction Potential in Memphis and Shelby County," by T.S. Chang, P.S. Tang, C.S. Lee and H. Hwang, 8/10/90, (PB91-125427/AS).
- NCEER-90-0019 "Experimental and Analytical Study of a Combined Sliding Disc Bearing and Helical Steel Spring Isolation System," by M.C. Constantinou, A.S. Mokha and A.M. Reinhorn, 10/4/90, (PB91-125385/AS).
- NCEER-90-0020 "Experimental Study and Analytical Prediction of Earthquake Response of a Sliding Isolation System with a Spherical Surface," by A.S. Mokha, M.C. Constantinou and A.M. Reinhorn, 10/11/50, (PB91-125419/AS).
- NCEER-90-0021 "Dynamic Interaction Factors for Floating Pile Groups," by G. Gazetas, K. Fan, A. Kaynia and E. Kausel, 9/10/90, (PB91-170381/AS)
- NCEER-90-0022 "Evaluation of Seismic Damage Indices for Reinforced Concrete Structures," by S. Rodriguez-Gomez and A.S. Cakmak, 9/30/90, PB91 171322/AS).
- NCEER-90-0023 "Study of Site Response at a melected Memphis Site," by H. Desai, S. Ahmad, E.S. Gazetas and M.R. Oh, 10/11/90, (PB91-196857/AS).
- NCEER-90-0024 "A User's Guide to Strongie : Version 1.0 of NCEER's Strong-Motion Data Access Tool for PCs and Terminals," by P.A. Friberg and C.A.T. Susch, 11/15/90, (PB91-171272/AS).
- NCEER-90-0025 "A Three-Dimensional Analytical Study of Spatial Variability of Seismic Ground Motions," by L-L. Hong and A.H.-S. Ang, 10/30/90, (PB91-170399/AS).

- NCEER-90-0026 "MUMOID User's Guide A Program for the Identification of Modal Parameters," by S. Rodriguez-Gomez and E. DiPasquale, 9/30/90. (PB91-171298/AS)
- NCEER-90-(027 "SARCF-II User's Guide Seismic Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Frames," by S. Rodriguez-Gomez, Y.S. Chung and C. Meyer, 9/30/90, (PB91-171280/AS).
- NCEER-90-0028 "Viscous Dampers: Testing, Modeling and Application in Vibration and Seismic Isolation," by N. Makris and M.C. Constantinou, 12/20/90 (PB91-190561/AS).
- NCEER-90-0029 "Soil Effects on Earthquake Ground Motions in the Memphis Area," by H. Hwang, C.S. Lee, K.W. Ng and T.S. Chang, 8/2/90, (PB91-190751/AS).
- NCEER.91-0001 "Proceedings from the Third Japan-U.S. Workshop on Earthquake Resistant Design of Lifeline Facilities and Countermeasures for Soil Liquefaction, December 17-19, 1990," edited by T.D. O'Rourke and M. Hamada, 2/1/91, (PB91-1792(9/AS).
- NCEER-91-0002 "Physical Space Solutions of Non-Proportionally Damped Systems," by M. Tong, Z. Liang and G.C. Lee, 1/15/91, (PB91-179242/AS).
- NCEER-91-0003 "Seismic Response of Single Piles and Pile Groups," by K. Fan and G. Gazetas, 1/10/91, (PB92-174994/AS).
- NCEER-91-0004 "Damping of Structures: Part 1 Theory of Complex Damping," by Z. Liang and G. Lee, 10/10/91, (PB92-197235/AS).
- NCEER-91-0005 "3D-BASIS Nonlinear Dynamic Analysis of Three Dimensional Base Isolated Structures: Part IL" by S. Nagarajaiah, A.M. Reinhorn and M.C. Constantinou, 2/28/91, (PB91-190553/AS).
- NCEER-91-0006 "A Multidimensional Hysteretic Model for Plasticity Deforming Metals in Energy Absorbing Devices," by E.J. Graesser and F.A. Cozzarelli, 4/9/91, (PB92-108364/AS).
- NCEER-91-(XX)7 "A Framework for Customizable Knowledge-Based Expert Systems with an Application to a KBES for Evaluating the Seismic Resistance of Existing Buildings," by E.G. Ibarra-Anaya and S.J. Fenves, 4/9/91, (PB91-210930/AS).
- NCEER-91-0008 "Nonlinear Analysis of Steel Frames with Semi-Rigid Connections Using the Capacity Spectrum Method," by G.G. Deierlein, S-H. Hsieh, Y-J. Shen and J.F. Abel, 7/2/91, (PB92-113828/AS).
- NCEER-91-0009 "Earthquake Education Materials for Grades K-12," by K.E.K. Ross, 4/30/91, (PB91-212142/AS).
- NCEER-91-0010 "Phase Wave Velocities and Displacement Phase Differences in a Harmonically Oscillating Pile," by N. Makris and G. Gazetas, 7/8/91, (PB92-108356/AS).
- NCEER-91-0011 "Dynamic Characteristics of a Full-Size Five-Story Steel Structure and a 2/5 Scale Model," by K.C. Chang, G.C. Yao, G.C. Lee, D.S. Hao and Y.C. Yeh," 7/2/91.
- NCEER-91-0012 "Seismic Response of a 2/5 Scale Steel Structure with Added Viscoelastic Dampers," by K.C. Chang, T.T. Soong, S.T. Oh and M.L. Lai, 5/17/91 (PB92-110816/AS).
- NCEER-91-0013 "Earthquake Response of Retaining Walls; Full-Scale Testing and Computational Modeling," by S. Alampalli and A-W.M. Elgamal, 6/20/91, to be published.
- NCEER-9i-0014 "3D-BASIS-M: Nonlinear Dynamic Analysis of Multiple Building Base Isolated Structures," by P.C. Tsopelas, S. Nagarajaiah, M.C. Constantinou and A.M. Reinhorn, 5/28/91, (PB92-113885/AS).

- NCEER 92 0007 "Engineering Evaluation of Permanent Ground Deformations Due to Seismically-Induced Liquefaction," by M.H. Baziar, R. Dobry and A.W.M. Elgamal, 3/24/92, (PB92-222421/AS).
- NCEER 92 0008 "A Procedure for the Seismic Evaluation of Buildings in the Central and Eastern United States," by C.D. Poland and J.O. Malley, 4/2/92. (PB92-222439/AS).
- NCEER-92-0009 "Experimental and Analytical Study of a Hybrid Isolation System Using Friction Controllable Sliding Bearings," by M.Q. Feng, S. Fujii and M. Shinozuka, 5/15/92, (PB93-150282/AS).
- NCEER 92-0040 "Seismic Resistance of Stab-Column Connections in Existing Non-Ductile Flat-Plate Buildings," by A.J. Durrani and Y. Du, 5/18/92.
- NCEER-92-0011 "The Hysteretic and Dynamic Behavior of Brick Masonry Walls Upgraded by Ferrocement Coatings Under Cyclic Loading and Strong Simulated Ground Motion," by H. Lee and S.P. Prawel, 5/11/92, to be published.
- NCEER-92-0012 "Study of Wire Rope Systems for Seismic Protection of Equipment in Buildings," by G.F. Demetriades, M.C. Constantinou and A.M. Reinhorn, 5/20/92.
- NCEER-92-0013 "Shape Memory Structural Dampers: Material Properties, Design and Seismic Testing," by P.R. Witting and F.A. Cozzarelli, 5/26/92.
- NCEER-92-0014 "Longitudinal Permanent Ground Deformation Effects on Buried Continuous Pipelines," by M.J. O'Rourke, and C. Nordberg, 6/15/92
- NCEER-92-0015 "A Simulation Method for Stationary Gaussian Random Functions Based on the Sampling Theorem," by M. Grigoriu and S. Balopoulou, 6/11/92, (PB93-127496/AS).
- NCEER-92-0016 "Gravity-Load-Designed Reinforced Concrete Buildings: Seismic Evaluation of Existing Construction and Detailing Strategies for Improved Seismic Resistance," by G.W. Hoffmann, S.K. Kunnath, J.B. Mander and A.M. Reinhorn, 7/15/92, to be published.
- NCEER-92-0017 "Observations on Water System and Pipeline Performance in the Limón Area of Costa Rica Due to the April 22, 1991 Earthquake," by M. O'Rourke and D. Ballantyne, 6/30/92, (PB93-126811/AS).
- NCEER 92-0018 "Founh Edition of Earthquake Education Materials for Grades K-12," Edited by K.E.K. Ross, 8/10/92.
- NCEER-92-0019 "Proceedings from the Fourth Japan-U.S. Workshop on Earthquake Resistant Design of Lifeline Facilities and Countermeasures for Soil Liquefaction," Edited by M. Harnada and T.D. O'Rourke, 8/12/92, (PB93-163939/AS).
- NCEER-92-0020 "Active Bracing System: A Full Scale Implementation of Active Control," by A.M. Reinhorn, T.T. Soong, R.C. Lin, M.A. Riley, Y.P. Wang, S. Aizawa and M. Higashino, 8/14/92, (PB93-127512/AS).
- NCEER-92-0021 "Empirical Analysis of Horizontal Ground Displacement Generated by Liquefaction-Induced Lateral Spreads," by S.F. Bartlett and T.L. Youd, 8/17/92.
- NCEER-92-0022 "IDARC Version 3.0: Inelastic Damage Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Structures," by S.K. Kunnath, A.M. Reinhorn and R.F. Loho, 8/31/92, to be published.
- NCEER-92-0023 "A Semi-Empirical Analysis of Strong-Motion Peaks in Terms of Seismic Source, Propagation Path and Local Site Conditions, by M. Kamiyama, M.J. O'Rourke and R. Flores-Berrones, 9/9/92, (PB93-150266/AS).
- NCEER-92-0024 "Seismic Behavior of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures with Nonductile Details, Part I: Summary of Experimental Findings of Full Scale Beam-Column Joint Tests," by A. Beres, R.N. White and P. Gergely, 9/30/92, to be published.
- NCEER-92-0025 "Experimental Results of Repaired and Retrofitted Beam-Column Joint Tests in Lightly Reinforced Concrete Frame Buildings," by A. Beres, S. El-Borgi, R.N. White and P. Gergely, 10/29/92, to be published.

- NCEER-92-0026 "A Generalization of Optimal Control Theory: Linear and Nonlinear Structures," by J.N. Yang, Z. Li and S. Vongchavalitkul, 11/2/92.
- NCEER.92-0027 "Seismic Resistance of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures Designed Only for Gravity Loads: Part I -Design and Properties of a One Third Scale Model Structure," by J.M. Bracci, A.M. Reinhorn and J.B. Mander, 12/1/92.
- NCEER-92-0028 "Seismic Resistance of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures Designed Only for Gravity Loads: Part II -Experimental Performance of Subassemblages," by L.E. Aycardi, J.B. Mander and A.M. Reinhorn, 12/1/92.
- NCEER-92-0029 "Seismic Resistance of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures Designed Only for Gravity Loads: Part III -Experimental Performance and Analytical Study of a Structural Model," by J.M. Bracci, A.M. Reinhorn and J.B. Mander, 12/1/92, to be published.
- NCEER 92 (0030 "Evaluation of Seismic Retrofit of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures: Part I Experimental Performance of Retrofitied Subassemblages," by D. Choudhuri, J.B. Mander and A.M. Reinhom, 12/8/92.
- NCEER-92-0031 "Evaluation of Seismic Retrofit of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures: Part II Experimental Performance and Analytical Study of a Retrofitted Structural Model," by J.M. Bracci, A.M. Reinhorn and J.B. Mander, 12/8/92
- NCEER-92-(1032 "Experimental and Analytical Investigation of Seismic Response of Structures with Supplemental Fluid Viscous Dampers," by M.C. Constantinou and M.D. Symans, 12/21/92.
- NCEER-92-0033 "Reconnaissance Report on the Cairo, Egypt Earthquake of October 12, 1992." by M. Khater, 12/23/92
- NCEER 92 0034 "Low Level Dynamic Characteristics of Four Tall Flat-Plate Buildings in New York City," by H. Gavin, S. Yuan, J. Grossman, E. Pekelis and K. Jacob, 12/28/92.
- NCEER-93-(00) "An Experimental Study on the Seismic Performance of Brick-Infilled Steel Frames With and Without Retrofit," by J.B. Mander, B. Nair, K. Wojkowski and J. Ma, 1/29/93.
- NCEER-93-0002 "Social Accounting for Disaster Preparedness and Recovery Planning," by S. Cole, E. Pantoja and V. Razak, 2/22/93, to be published.
- NCEER-93-0003 "Assessment of 1991 NEHRP Provisions for Nonstructural Components and Recommended Revisions," by T.T. Soong, G. Chen, Z. Wu, R-H. Zhang and M. Grigoriu, 3/1/93.
- NCEER-93-0004 "Evaluation of Static and Response Spectrum Analysis Procedures of SEAOC/UBC for Seismic Isolated Structures," by C.W. Winters and M.C. Constantinou, 3/23/93.
- NCEER-93-0005 "Earthquakes in the Northeast Are We Ignoring the Hazard? A Workshop on Earthquake Science and Safety for Educators," edited by K.E.K. Ross, 4/2/93, to be published.
- NCEER-93-0006 "Inelastic Response of Reinforced Concrete Structures with Viscosiastic Braces," by R.F. Lobo, J.M. Bracci, K.L. Shen, A.M. Reinhorn and T.T. Soong, 4/5/93.